

The role of *Pectobacterium brasiliense* 1692 outer membrane vesicles on members of soft rot *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Phytophthora parasitica*

By Sedibane Kothibe Precious 15101224

Under the supervision of: Prof Lucy Moleleki Dr Thabiso Motaung

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree: Master of Science in Microbiology In the Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences University of Pretoria October 2022

Table of Contents

Supervisory committee iii
Declarationiv
Acknowledgementsv
Research outputsvi
Summaryvii
List of Abbreviationsix
List of Figuresxi
List of Tablesxiv
Chapter one1
1.1 Introduction2
1.2 <i>Pbr</i> 1692 in microbial interactions
1.3 Outer membrane vesicles
1.3.1 OMVs biogenesis and the delivery mechanisms
1.3.2 OMVs in bacterial defence
1.3.3 OMVS-mediated defence through antibiotic inhibitors and antibiotic resistance9
1.3.4 OMVs pathogenesis and virulence
1.3.5 OMVs as public goods12
1.4 Outer membrane vesicles in <i>Pectobacterium</i>
1.5 Understanding the isolation of OMVs13
1.6 References15
Chapter two
2.1 Methods and materials
2.1.1 Strain growth conditions25
2.1.2 Electrocompetent cells and transformations25
2.1.3 Isolation of OMVs25
2.1.4 Transmission electron microscopy
2.1.5 The effect of <i>Pbr</i> 1692 OMVs on soft rot <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i> 26
2.1.6 The effect of <i>Pbr</i> 1692 cells on <i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> INRA 31027
2.1.6.1 Antagonism assays27
2.1.6.2 <i>Pbr</i> 1692 cells on <i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> INRA 310 zoospore germination and motility
2.1.7 The effect of <i>Pbr</i> 1692 OMVs on <i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> mycelium28
2.1.8 <i>Pbr</i> 1692 OMVs on <i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> INRA 310 zoospore germination and motility

2.1.9	Staining of OMVs and their uptake by <i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> zoospores29		
2.1.10	Phytophthora parasitica viability tests		
2.1.11	Phenotypic Microarray		
2.1.12 OMVs.	Phytophthora parasitica carbon source utilisation in the presence of Pbr1692		
2.1.13 presence	<i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> zoospore germination and viability in carbon source in the e of <i>Pbr</i> 1692 OMVs		
2.2 Apj	pendices		
2.2.1	Appendix A		
2.3 Ref	Serences		
Chapter th	ree		
3.1 Res	sults		
3.1.1	Production of OMVs by <i>Pectobacterium brasiliense</i> 169235		
3.1.2	The effect of <i>Pbr</i> 1692 OMVs on soft rot <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i>		
3.1.3	Pbr1692 cells do not inhibit the growth of P. parasitica INRA 31040		
3.1.4	Pbr1692 OMVs do not inhibit the growth of Phytophthora parasitica44		
3.1.5	Phenotypic Microarray preliminary results		
3.1.5. 310 z	1 <i>Pectobacterium brasiliense</i> 1692 OMVs assist <i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> INRA oospores in utilising some carbon sources		
3.1.5. 310	2 <i>Pbr</i> 1692 OMVs affect the chemical sensitivity of <i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> INRA		
3.1.6	Validation of the phenotypic microarray results60		
3.1.6. formi	1 <i>Pbr</i> 1692 OMVs assist <i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> INRA 310 with the utilisation of c acid60		
3.1.6. formi	2 <i>Phytophthora parasitica</i> INRA 310 zoospores germination and viability in c acid carbon source in the presence of <i>Pbr</i> 1692 OMVs		
3.2 Dis	cussion and conclusions64		
3.3 Fut	ure work		
3.4 Ref	.4 References		
3.5 Sup	pplementary data		

Supervisory committee

Supervisor

Prof Lucy Moleleki

Department of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology

University of Pretoria

Lunnon Road

Pretoria

Co-supervisor

Dr Thabiso Motaung

Department of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology

University of Pretoria

Lunnon Road

Pretoria

Declaration

I, Sedibane Kothibe Precious, declare that the dissertation, which I hereby submit for the degree <u>Master</u> <u>of Science in Microbiology</u> at the University of Pretoria, is my own work and has not previously been submitted by me for a degree at this or any other tertiary institution.

Acknowledgements

The journey that led to the completion of this degree was not easy. Amidst the challenges, I am grateful to a lot of people. First and foremost, I would like to thank God for giving me strength and wisdom during the journey. For allowing me to see past the challenges, granting me the serenity to accept things that were beyond me, and also the ability to strive where possible. The multiple anxiety attacks, doubtful thoughts, and exhaustion, God, you still held me close, and for that thank you.

I am very grateful to my supervisor Prof Lucy Moleleki for entrusting me and allowing me to be in your laboratory. Thank you for the support, encouragement, and feedback regarding my write-ups and the project as a whole. To my co-supervisor, Dr Thabiso Motaung, thank you for your tremendous assistance. I am grateful for the 'whys' asked during presentations, the support, and for looking through my work.

To my family (Tabudi's family), thank you so much for giving me all the support and assurance. I am grateful for the prayers and endless calls.

To my lab mates (Lab 9-5), thank you for making our laboratory a conducive environment. I am thankful to have met and interacted with you. A special thank you to Paul and Khanyi for being part of this journey. Thank you to my friends for listening, supporting, and encouraging me throughout the period.

Thank you to Erna van Wilpe and Charity Maepa for their consistent assistance with the microscopes. To Matshepo Matlejoane from Ondersteport Biological Products and Hein Venter from Anatech, I am incredibly grateful for the services and assistance with the phenotypic microarray. I am also grateful for the help we received from Dr Jacinda James from UJ.

Finally, I would like to thank the University of Pretoria, the National Research Foundation, and the Forestry and Agricultural Biotechnology Institute for funding and enabling this project to be completed.

Research outputs

Conferences

Sedibane K. P, Motaung T. E and Moleleki L. N (2021). Title: *Pectobacterium brasiliense* 1692 outer membrane vesicles in microbial interactions. The South African Society of Microbiology 2021 virtual conference, 06th May 2021.

Obtained the best runner-up for a poster presentation

Sedibane K. P, Motaung T. E, Moleleki L. N (2021). *Pectobacterium brasiliense* 1692 outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) on *Phytophthora parasitica* zoospore germination. African Inclusive Microbiology student microscopy symposium, 29th November 2021 – 2nd December 2021.

Summary

Outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) are spherical nanoparticles formed from bulging and the subsequent fission of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria. OMVs play a role in the secretion and transport of molecules in bacteria. They can transfer molecules from the inside to the outside of the cell, and as a result, they are regarded as a type zero secretion system. Furthermore, OMVs enclose multiple molecules such as enzymes (e.g., hydrolases), nucleic acids (e.g., DNAs and RNAs), and virulence factors. As a result, bacteria utilise OMVs in various microbial interactions, including competition. Potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) is one of the stable crop plants worldwide and has been under the threat of microbial infections. *Pectobacterium brasiliense* 1692 (*Pbr*1692), a soft rot bacterium, has resulted in a massive loss in the potato production industry and affected food security. Previously, it was reported that *Pbr*1692 cells could outcompete potato co-infectors using various mechanisms, namely, the secretion of antibiotic carbapenem, bacteriocins, and the type six secretion system.

In this study, we investigated the role of *Pbr*1692 OMVs in microbial interactions, especially in competition. To achieve this, OMVs were isolated from *Pbr*1692 and confirmed through transmission electron microscopy and SDS-page. As anticipated, *Pbr*1692 OMVs exhibited antimicrobial activity against *Dickeya dadantii*. However, our data indicated that OMVs do not play a role in competition against *Pectobacterium atrosepticum*, *P. carotovorum* and *P. parmentieri*.

Multiple studies have shown that bacterial OMVs participate in both intra and inter-kingdom interactions. Therefore, we investigated the role of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on plant pathogens from other kingdoms, specifically *Phytophthora parasitica*. *Phytophthora parasitica* is an oomycetes plant pathogen notorious for root and stem rot in economically important crops such as tobacco, potato, tomato, and peppers, as well as citrus plants. Since both *P. parasitica* and *Pbr*1692 are potato pathogens, we hypothesised that there is a likelihood that *Pbr*1692 could interact with *Phytophthora parasitica*. Therefore, we investigated the type of interaction that might occur between these two pathogens. From our analysis, it was evident that *Pbr*1692 cells do not inhibit the growth of *P. parasitica* INRA 310. Since OMVs reflect the biology of their parental cells, we were motivated to investigate whether *Pbr*1692 OMVs do not exhibit inhibition on *P. parasitica*. Despite the fact that *P. parasitica* INRA 310. Taken together, these

results suggested that there might be an interaction between the two pathogens through the OMVs, but not competition. To shed some light on this, we conducted a phenotypic microarray analysis where *Pbr*1692 OMVs were shown to potentially assist *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores in utilising some of the carbon sources tested. These preliminary results showed that zoospores co-inoculated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs showed improved growth in some chemicals, and these results were subsequently validated. Therefore, we could conclude that *Pbr*1692 OMVs participate in intra and inter-kingdom interactions. This study assists in understanding OMVs as a mechanism of interaction between plant pathogens. Also, it paves a way to target this mechanism to combat plant diseases caused by *Pbr*1692 or to look into *Pbr*1692 OMVs as antimicrobial agents in microbial communities.

List of Abbreviations

°C	Degrees Celsius
CDT	Cytolethal distending toxin
CFU	Colony forming units
СМА	Corn meal media
dH ₂ O	Distilled water
ddH ₂ O	Double distilled water
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ETEC	Enterotoxigenic E. coli
FF-IF	Filamentous fungi inoculating fluid
GN	Gram-Negative
GP	Gram-Positive
Hrs	Hours
LB	Luria Bertani
LCMS	Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry
mg	Milligram
Mins	Minutes
ml	Millilitre
MV	Membrane vesicles
OD	Optical density
ОМ	Outer Membrane
OMVs	Outer membrane vesicles
OU	Omnilog units
Pbr	Pectobacterium brasiliense

PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PCWDEs	Plant cell wall degrading enzymes
РМ	Phenotypic microarray
PQS	Pseudomonas quinolone signal
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
rpm	Revolutions per minute
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SEM	Scanning electron microscope
TEM	Transmission electron microscope
T6SS	Type VI secretion system

List of Figures

Figure 1. 1: The illustration of OMV cargo and biogenesis. a. OMVs contain molecules that form part of the outer membrane. **b**. OMVs are formed from turgor pressure on the periplasm. c. When the outer membrane is enriched with molecules such as POS of *P. aeruginosa* or LPS, it causes the curvature of the outer membrane (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010, Brown et al., 2015, Schwechheimer & Kuehn, 2015).....7 Figure 1. 2: Illustration of the OMVS transporting antibiotics (a) or antibiotic resistance genes (b) and the degradation of the antibiotics (Schwechheimer & Kuehn, 2015).11 Figure 1. 3: OMVs package, transport, and deliver toxins to the bacteria of interest Figure 3. 1: Isolation of OMVs from Pbr1692 at the stationary phase. (a) Thin section micrographs depicting OMVs bulging from the Pbr1692 cell membrane. (b) Transmission electron micrographs of OMVs isolated from Pbr1692 negatively stained with 1% uranyl acetate. (c) SDS page gel of three independent OMV isolations confirming the reproducibility Figure 3. 2: The effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on SREs. (a) Gentamicin-resistant targetted bacteria D. dadantii, P. atrosepticum, P. carotovorum, and P. parmentieri were treated with Pbr1692 OMVs (b) The quantification of the targetted and treated bacteria presented as log10 CFU/ml. The asterisk shows a statistical significance where P < 0.05 compared to the PBS buffer Figure 3. 3: Antagonism assay of (a) Pbr1692 cultured with P. parasitica INRA 310 mycelia and (b) ddH2O as the negative control on CMA. (c) Comparison of the length of the radius of the mycelium growth from the point of inoculation for both the test and the negative control. The error bars represent the standard deviations from the data, and asterisks denote a statistical Figure 3. 4: Zoospore germination test. Phytophthora parasitica INRA 310 zoospore with *Pbr*1692 cells (**a**, **c**) and water is the negative control (**b**, **d**) image obtained using a brightfield microscope 40x objective (**a**, **b**) and a scanning electron microscope (**c**, **d**)......42 Figure 3. 5: Mycelium targetted assay investigating the non-inhibitory activity of OMVs on the isolates of P. parasitica mycelium at two different concentrations, inoculated with Pbr1692 cells and PBS buffer as the negative control. (a) P. parasitica INRA 310, (b) P. parasitica 149,

Figure 3. 6: OMVs uptake test. (a, b) FM4-64 labelled OMVs with *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores. (c, d) the negative control with PBS buffer. (a, c) micrographs obtained with a fluorescent microscope, (b) a confocal microscope image of the *Pbr*1692 OMV uptake by *P. parasitica* zoospores (d) the micrographs were generated with a brightfield microscope using a 40x objective.
Figure 3. 7: Zoospores germination test. *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with OMVs (a, c) and the negative control with PBS buffer (c, d). The micrographs were generated using a brightfield microscope 40x objective (a, b) and a scanning electron microscope (c, d).

Figure 3. 8: Zoospore viability test. P. parasitica INRA 310 zoospores were incubated for 16 hrs with OMVs (**a**, **b**, **c**) or PBS buffer as the negative control (**d**, **e**, **f**) were stained with Evan's blue (a, d) or propidium iodide (b, c, e, f). The micrographs were obtained with a fluorescent (c, d) or brightfield microscope 20x objective (a, d, e, f)......48 Figure 3. 9: PM comparing the carbon utilisation ability of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with Pbr1692 OMVs to those not treated with Pbr1692 OMVs for 48 hrs incubation. The colours green and red show the utilisation of the carbon sources by treated and untreated zoospores, respectively, and yellow is the overlap of both treated and untreated zoospores (a). The Venn diagram shows the carbon sources utilised by either treated or untreated P. parasitica Figure 3. 10: A parametric graph compares the chemical sensitivity of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with Pbr1692 OMVs to zoospores that are untreated at 48 hrs. The concentration of the chemicals increases from left to right. Green and red show the utilisation of the carbon sources by the treated and untreated zoospores, respectively, and yellow is the Figure 3. 11: The effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on *P. parasitica* INRA 310 carbon utilisation. (a) P. parasitica INRA 310 mycelium grown on CMA supplemented with formic acid and Pbr1692. (b) Mycelium grown on CMA supplemented with formic acid and PBS buffer as the negative control. (c)The error bars represent the standard deviations from the data, and the asterisk shows a statistical significance where P < 0.05 compared to the PBS buffer negative

Figure 3. 12: Zoospore germination and viability test in formic acid. *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores incubated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs (**a**) and the negative control with PBS buffer (**b**). Zoospores and *Pbr*1692 OMVs (**c**) and the negative control with PBS buffer (**d**), both stained with propidium iodide. (**e**,**f**) brightfield micrographs of (**c**,**d**) showing the specimen. The

List of Tables

Table 2. 1 : Procedure for inoculation into phenotypic microarrays
Table 3. 1: The metabolic pathways of the seven carbon sources that P. parasitica INRA 310
zoospores treated with Pbr1692 OMVs utilised using the KEGG database
Table 3. 2: The list of carbon sources showed the most growth and metabolism of zoospores
treated with Pbr1692 OMVs compared to the untreated by calculating the difference between
the treated and untreated zoospores using the cut-off of 10 Ou and the predicted metabolic
pathways they participate in using KEGG database53
Table 3. 3 : Chemicals that elicited a decrease or increase in metabolism and growth of the <i>P</i> .
parasitica INRA 310 zoospores treated with Pbr1692 OMVs with an increase in the
concentration of the chemical

Literature review: The role of outer membrane vesicles in microbial communities and *Pectobacterium brasiliense* 1692

Chapter one

1.1 Introduction

Research in microbial interactions allows us to understand the complex dynamics of microbes and paves the way in the biotechnology and medicine industry. Microbial communities involve the three kingdoms of life, each with its own set of interactions that can either benefit or damage the surrounding microbial partners (Braga *et al.*, 2016). Microorganisms adopt various mechanisms to navigate relationships within microbial communities. These relationships can be antagonistic (competition) or cooperative. These include the secretion of effector proteins (among other molecules) and antimicrobial peptides that can assist in competitive interactions (Shyntum *et al.*, 2019). With regard to cooperative interactions that benefit members of within communities, enzymes that may degrade harmful chemicals or secretion of iron chelators that sequester iron from the environment have been demonstrated (Schink, 2002, Tshikantwa *et al.*, 2018).

One particular mechanism used in microbial interactions is represented by the outer membrane vesicles (OMVs), also called the type zero secretion system or TOSS (Guerrero-Mandujano *et al.*, 2017), among other TXSSs (X stands for any number from 1-10). OMVs are blebs of the outer membrane of Gram-negative (GN) bacteria (Schwechheimer & Kuehn, 2015). The composition of the OMVs reflects that of the bacterial outer membrane (OM) (Beveridge, 1999, Kuehn & Kesty, 2005, Kulp & Kuehn, 2010). The OMVs are composed of lipopolysaccharides, glycerol phospholipids, and outer membrane proteins (OMPs) (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010). OMVs harbour other molecules such as cytoplasmic proteins and periplasmic proteins (**Fig 1.1a**) (Whitchurch *et al.*, 2002, Kuehn & Kesty, 2005). They also contain nucleic acid and virulence factors which may be crucial for the survival of GN bacteria (Gankema *et al.*, 1980, Renelli *et al.*, 2004).

Various studies have shown that OMVs play essential roles in bacterial activities/interactions, such as pathogenesis through biofilm formation and also through the transport of virulence factors (Gankema *et al.*, 1980, Kadurugamuwa & Beveridge, 1995, Kulp & Kuehn, 2010, Jan, 2017, Wang *et al.*, 2020). OMVs also form part of the bacterial defence system through the secretion of toxins, enzymes, and antibiotic inhibitors (Li *et al.*, 1998, Evans *et al.*, 2012, Kim *et al.*, 2018, Wang *et al.*, 2020). One of the novel characteristics of the OMVs is their ability to transfer genes between bacteria and modulate the metabolic activities of each other (Yaron *et al.*, 2000, Kim *et al.*, 2018). Besides being used for self-benefits, it has been suggested that

the production of OMVs may also benefit bacterial communities, for example, by promoting antibiotic resistance (Allan & Beveridge, 2003).

Pectobacterium brasiliense 1692 (*Pbr*1692) uses its secretion systems to secrete antimicrobial compounds such as carbapenem and bacteriocins for competitive advantage (Shyntum *et al.*, 2019). Notably, *Pbr*1692 is the causal agent of potato blackleg and soft rot worldwide (Pérombelon, 2002, Merwe *et al.*, 2010, Ashmawy *et al.*, 2015). Other microorganisms, including *Enterobacteriaceae* bacteria, interact with *Pbr*1692 in potato tubers, potato rhizosphere, and phyllosphere, suggesting that they may compete, cooperate, or act in synergy for the available nutrients (Toth *et al.*, 2011, Shyntum *et al.*, 2019).

This chapter reviews the roles of OMVs in microbial interactions and how they may participate in *Pbr*1692 interactions with other micro-organisms.

1.2 *Pbr*1692 in microbial interactions

Soft rot *Enterobacteriaceae* (SRE) are bacterial pathogens that cause plant diseases worldwide, resulting in significant economic losses (Pérombelon, 2002, Toth *et al.*, 2011). The SREs are composed of the genera *Dickeya* and *Pectobacterium* (Pérombelon, 2002, Duarte *et al.*, 2004). The broad host range bacteria: *Dickeya* and *Pectobacterium* species, cause stem wilt, tuber soft rot, and blackleg diseases. The SREs are characterised by the production of plant cell wall degrading enzymes (PCWDEs) that allow bacteria to infiltrate and macerate plant tissues (Charkowski *et al.*, 2011, Czajkowski *et al.*, 2011). Potato blackleg caused by *Pectobacterium* and *Dickeya* species appears slimy and wet with black rot lesions that spread from the rotting mother tuber up the stems. Furthermore, the yellowing, wilting, and desiccation of the stems and leaves can also be observed due to potato blackleg (Czajkowski *et al.*, 2011). On the other hand, potato tuber soft rot is characterised by small cream-to-tan, water-soaked spots on the surface of the potato, which progresses to a mushy and slimy appearance with an unpleasant odour, especially under moist conditions (Rosenzweig *et al.*, 2016).

Microbes are involved in constant inter and intraspecies interactions that create, maintain, and sustain microbial communities in the ecology or host environment. Through these interactions, microbes have evolved and adapted various mechanisms to survive constant environmental changes such as nutritional limitations, competition, cooperation, and parasitism/predation (Peleg *et al.*, 2010). As such, they secrete and exchange chemicals and signals to respond accordingly to maintain their survival (Caruana & Walper, 2020). *Pbr*1692 ecological niche

includes interacting with various bacteria on their hosts, including potato plants (Shyntum *et al.*, 2019). Furthermore, it was reported that the microbial composition of both diseased and healthy potato tubers is constituted mainly by the gammaproteobacteria. Some of the bacteria from the family *Enterobacteriaceae* found in the potatoes included *Erwinia*, *Citrobacter*, *Pectobacterium*, *Enterobacter*, *Pantoea*, *Serratia*, and *Klebsiella* species (Shyntum *et al.*, 2019).

Within microbial communities, some species can produce secondary metabolites, such as siderophores which sequester iron and exhibit antibiotic activity, suggesting that they are involved in both competitive and cooperative microbial interactions (Johnstone & Nolan, 2015). Furthermore, bacteria also use signalling systems such as quorum sensing to allow the cells to communicate and respond to environmental conditions (Braga *et al.*, 2016). In competitive interactions, bacteria may produce antimicrobial compounds that may inhibit co-infectors. For example, *Pbr*1692 employs various mechanisms, including the T6SS, in the interbacterial competition of phytopathogens and commensals. In this regard, the bacteria use the T6SS to inject toxins into its competitors, thus providing a competitive advantage to the attacking strain (Bernal *et al.*, 2018). In addition, the T6SS secretes bactericidal effectors, which can inhibit the growth of the targeted bacteria (Ma *et al.*, 2014, Bernal *et al.*, 2018).

Pectobacterium spp. produce bacteriocins which are extracellular toxins. These include carotovoricin, pectocin M1 and M2, and carocin (Roh *et al.*, 2010, Grinter *et al.*, 2012). These bacteriocins demonstrate antimicrobial activity against bacteria of the same species, particularly carotovoricin, which degrades the phospholipids making up the cell walls of bacteria (Roh *et al.*, 2010). Bacteria such as *Serratia*, *Dickeya*, and *Pectobacterium* spp. can produce antibiotics like carbapenem (McGowan *et al.*, 2005, Monson *et al.*, 2018). Carbapenem is a β -lactam antibiotic that targets the cell wall of both GN and Gram-positive (GP) bacteria, and compared to bacteriocins, carbapenem has a broad-spectrum activity (Papp-Wallace *et al.*, 2011, Shyntum *et al.*, 2019). However, in some cases, bacteria display antimicrobial resistance against compounds produced by their competitors as a survival mechanism (Meletis, 2016).

Previous studies have shown that *Pbr*1692 interacts with various bacteria on potato plants, including the bacteria from their *Enterobacteriaceae* and endophytes such as *Serratia* spp. (Shyntum *et al.*, 2019). Could the *Pbr*1692 microbial interactions involve other kingdoms? *Phytophthora parasitica* is an aggressive oomycete plant pathogen commonly reported as the

causal agent of tobacco black shank (Gallup *et al.*, 2006). Even so, *P. parasitica* has also been reported to cause pink rot in potato tubers (Taylor *et al.*, 2008, Taylor *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, *P. parasitica* produces flagellate single-celled zoospores, which are the infectious agents of the pathogen (Larousse & Galiana, 2017). *Pbr*1692 and *P. parasitica* are both potato pathogens, thus occupying the same ecological niche and possibly competing or helping with obtaining nutrient sources.

Understanding the mechanisms microorganisms use for survival in their communities will improve our understanding of microbial pathogenesis and provide insights into developing new control methods.

1.3 Outer membrane vesicles

Membrane vesicles are one of the mechanisms used in microbial interactions to promote survival. Membrane vesicles are bi-layered spherical particles found in the three kingdoms of life; however, they are described as outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) in GN bacteria because of the membrane structure of the GN bacteria (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010, Brown *et al.*, 2015). OMVs were first identified from *Escherichia coli* cultures grown under lysine-limiting conditions (Bishop & Work, 1965). It was later reported that OMVs are formed from the bulging and the subsequent fission of the OM (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010).

OMVs are formed at all stages of bacterial growth and under different environmental conditions (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010). Furthermore, they can also be produced *in vivo* and *in vitro*; however, the production of OMVs is mainly associated with the bacterial stress response (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010). Reports have shown that the production of OMVs has predominantly been triggered by stress on the membrane envelope (MacDonald & Kuehn, 2012), with stressors ranging from iron reduction, fluctuating temperatures, and oxidative stress (Klimentová & Stulík, 2015). Therefore, this indicates that vesiculation may be one of the critical processes for the survival of bacteria in unfavourable environments.

The evolution of OMVs is suggested to increase the delivery efficiency of bacteria substances (Li *et al.*, 1998). Therefore, this has made OMVs perfect particles to promote interactions within bacterial communities and between bacteria and their hosts. The characteristic ability of OMVs to take part in these interactions has favoured the survival of the bacteria. OMV-mediated bacterial interactions can result in pathogenesis, antibiotic resistance, nutrient

acquisition, cooperation and killing competition (Renelli *et al.*, 2004, Lee *et al.*, 2016, Guerrero-Mandujano *et al.*, 2017).

1.3.1 OMVs biogenesis and the delivery mechanisms

OMVs are classified based on their biogenesis and biological functioning (Gill *et al.*, 2019); however, there are limited studies on each category. There are three proposed potential mechanisms of OMVs biogenesis. The first mechanism suggests that the production of OMVs may result from the bending and blebbing of the bacterial OM due to turgor pressure build-up and stress (**Fig 1.1b**), caused by the accumulation of peptidoglycan fragments and misfolded proteins in the periplasm causing the OM to bulge out (Zhou *et al.*, 1998, McBroom & Kuehn, 2007, Macdonald & Kuehn, 2013). In addition, the increase in the number of OMVs produced as the OM blebs reduce the turgor pressure (Jan, 2017). In the second mechanism, vesiculation is caused by raising the region of the relaxed cell wall-cell membrane interactions due to the turnover differences between the cell wall and cell membrane (Berleman & Auer, 2013). The third mechanism involves ionic repulsion and cell membrane destabilisation, resulting in curvature of the OM, which contributes to the OMV release (Berleman & Auer, 2013, Jan, 2017). This was observed in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, where OMVs were released through the interaction between the *Pseudomonas* quinolone signal (PQS) (**Fig 1.1c**) and lipopolysaccharides and the sequestered divalent cations (Berleman & Auer, 2013, Jan, 2017).

Interestingly, pathogenic bacteria appear to produce more OMVs than non-pathogenic bacteria. This has been reported in enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC), which produce more vesicles than in non-pathogenic *E. coli* (Horstman & Kuehn, 2002). Furthermore, it has been discovered that comparing leukotoxic and non-leukotoxic *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*, the pathogenic strain produces more than 25-fold the number of vesicles implying that OMVs play a role in the pathogenesis in these species (Lai *et al.*, 1981).

McBroom *et al.* (2006) showed that there is an OMV overproduction by an *E. coli* mutant (induced envelope stress) compared to the wild-type strain. Studies have reported that *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* showed increased OMV production when treated with ethanol and exposed to oxygen saturation, respectively (Sabra *et al.*, 2003, McBroom & Kuehn, 2007, Macdonald & Kuehn, 2013). Antimicrobial treatments have been shown to affect vesiculation. Dutta *et al.* (2004) reported that treating *Shigella dysenteriae* with mitomycin C results in high production of OMVs. However, there was low vesiculation when *S. dysenteriae* was treated with other antibiotics (Dutta *et al.*, 2004), suggesting that OMV production may vary depending on the

antimicrobial agent used and the specific target on that bacterium. In addition, Chan *et al.* (2017) reported that an *E. coli* strain naturally sensitive to gentamycin produced more OMVs when exposed to the drug. Despite reports that OMVs are primarily generated in response to stress, it should be noted that OMV production is a natural process that occurs at all stages of bacterial development (Li *et al.*, 1998, McBroom *et al.*, 2006, Brameyer *et al.*, 2018).

For the OMVs to effectively deliver their cargo, they should be able to interact with and have entry into other micro-organisms. Although the process by which OMVs enter the cells is not yet fully understood, some fluorescence studies have shown the possibility of OMVs using endocytic entry, such as clathrin-mediated as the method of entry and delivery of molecules in the OMVs (Pérez-Cruz *et al.*, 2016). Besides clathrin-mediated endocytosis, some bacterial cells use other entries such as micropinocytosis, caveolin-mediated endocytosis, lipid raft-mediated endocytosis, and membrane fusion (Bomberger *et al.*, 2009, Furuta *et al.*, 2009, Parker *et al.*, 2010, Jin *et al.*, 2011, Jäger *et al.*, 2015, Yang *et al.*, 2020, Zingl *et al.*, 2021).



Figure 1. 1: The illustration of OMV cargo and biogenesis. a. OMVs contain molecules that form part of the outer membrane. b. OMVs are formed from turgor pressure on the periplasm.
c. When the outer membrane is enriched with molecules such as PQS of *P. aeruginosa* or LPS, it causes the curvature of the outer membrane (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010, Brown et al., 2015, Schwechheimer & Kuehn, 2015).

1.3.2 OMVs in bacterial defence

Bacteria tend to utilise various mechanisms to defend themselves against harmful agents as well as predators. OMVs are regarded as one of the examples that can be used as antimicrobial agents. Intercellular exchanges such as cell-cell signalling have shown that bacteria can produce OMVs that kill their co-infector to minimise and eradicate competition (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010). OMVs can also neutralise and impair the host's defence system, thus helping bacterial communities survive and manifest infections (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010). For example, OMVs produced by *Helicobacter pylori* carry an antioxidant enzyme, KatA, which counteracts the oxidative radicals produced by the host through catalytic hydrolysis activity or the oxidation of methionine residues of katA (Lekmeechai *et al.*, 2018).

Through proteomic studies, it was discovered that some OMVs carry cell degradation enzymes, and the bacteria that produce OMVs with such functions induce a less susceptible mode, allowing the OMVs only to recognise and destroy their target (Kadurugamuwa & Beveridge, 1996, Kadurugamuwa *et al.*, 1998). Bacteria also produce OMVs through the adhesion of phage during a phage treatment before phage DNA infection (Kulp & Kuehn, 2010). Interestingly, OMVs produced by *E. coli* can adsorb T4 bacteriophage and reduce the ability of the phage for infection (Manning & Kuehn, 2011).

Li *et al.* (1998) discovered that OMVs could lyse a spectrum of GN and GP bacteria targeting the peptidoglycan chemotype and this study further demonstrated that *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 OMVs showed the most lysis activity, which could be due to the hydrolases that are enclosed in the OMVs (Li *et al.*, 1998). There are also other enzymes used by bacteria to target the peptidoglycan, such as *Lysobacter* sp. OMVs secrete endopeptidase L5, a bacteriolytic enzyme that can kill competitors by targeting the peptidoglycan (Vasilyeva *et al.*, 2008, Jan, 2017). The mechanisms through which OMVs execute their function are not entirely understood. Still, for GN bacteria, it is suspected that OMVs bind by fusing on the OM and releasing peptidoglycan hydrolase into the periplasmic space, attacking the peptidoglycan of the bacteria of interest (Kadurugamuwa *et al.*, 1998). While there is no definitive explanation of how OMVs lyse GP bacteria, it is suggested that the OMVs bind to the cell wall and release enzymes that break it (Brown *et al.*, 2015, Nagakubo *et al.*, 2020). Vesicles are commonly known to contain cell wall modifying or degrading enzymes such as PCWDEs and endopeptidase L5 from *Lysobacter* sp. (Vasilyeva *et al.*, 2008, Katsir & Bahar, 2017).

Pseudomonas aeruginosa OMVs enclose quinolones and murein hydrolases with antibacterial activity against other bacteria (Tashiro *et al.*, 2013). During natural development, the bacterium also produces membrane vesicles containing periplasmic components such as hydrolytic enzymes (e.g., protease, phospholipase C, and peptidoglycan hydrolase). Under nutrient-limiting conditions, *P. aeruginosa* OMVs attack the neighbouring bacteria, lyse them, and provide the parent strain with nutrients to feed on (Tashiro *et al.*, 2013) and this ability can be beneficial in microbial communities. Therefore, hydrolytic enzymes and other bioactive molecules associated with bacterial vesicles may be broadly used by bacteria as mechanisms employed to obtain resources vital from the environment. The PQS molecule found in *P. aeruginosa* OMVs required for iron acquisition can also inhibit the growth of other bacteria or stimulate virulence genes (Toyofuku *et al.*, 2009, Tashiro *et al.*, 2013). To this end, it is possible for a cell to select what to secrete thus, determining the contents of these OMVs.

1.3.3 OMVS-mediated defence through antibiotic inhibitors and antibiotic resistance

Some OMVs package β -lactamases that act against β -lactam antibiotics, promote antimicrobial resistance, and allow the survival of the bacteria (Kim *et al.*, 2018) (**Fig 1.2a**). This suggests that the β -lactamase OMVs can confer resistance to bacteria carrying β -lactam molecules or protect other existing bacteria from that antibiotic treatment (Ellis & Kuehn, 2010). For example, *A. baumannii* shelters carbapenem-susceptible bacteria through the production of carbapenemase such as Oxa-58 found in OMVs (Liao *et al.*, 2015). Similarly, *Moraxella catarrhalis* protects amoxicillin-susceptible *M. catarrhalis*, *Haemophilus influenzae*, and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* from amoxicillin (Schaar *et al.*, 2011). Besides the use of antibiotic inhibitors, OMVs may transfer resistance to other bacteria, as seen when gentamycin-treated *P. aeruginosa* released gentamycin OMVs which were able to pass through a permeable barrier of *Burkholderia cepacia* and induced resistance to gentamycin treatment (Allan & Beveridge, 2003). As such, bacteria use OMVs as potential mechanisms to induce antimicrobial resistance, which has been a great challenge in medicine.

Antibiotic treatment is regarded as a stressor in the bacterial community, and as such, bacteria tend to defend themselves when they encounter them. OMVs produced by *M. catarrhalis* can inhibit the bactericidal effects and the lysis of the peptide antibiotic polymyxin B (Roszkowiak *et al.*, 2006), also illustrated in **Fig 1.2b**. To our interest, hypervesiculating *E. coli* mutants survived polymyxin B and colistin treatment compared to the wild-type (Manning & Kuehn,

2011) because OMVs mimic the outside environment and act as a decoy for the defence and survival (Kulp & Kuehn, 2010).

Although there is less to no information on OMVs in interkingdom interactions, bacterial OMVs have been reported to decrease the susceptibility of pathogenic yeast to a combination of antifungals (Roszkowiak *et al.*, 2006), which is an indication that OMVs play a role during inter-kingdom interactions. Furthermore, various studies have reported that bacterial OMVs may carry and transport antifungal agents (Meers *et al.*, 2018, Yue *et al.*, 2021). According to Wang *et al.* (2020), OMVs of *Burkholderia thailandensis* can inhibit the growth of drugsensitive and drug-resistant bacteria and fungi such as *A. baumannii, Staphylococcus aureus, Candida albicans,* and *Cryptococcus neoformans.* They further reported that the growth could be inhibited by the antimicrobial compounds peptidoglycan hydrolases, 4-hydroxy-3-methyl-2-(-2-non-enyl)-quinoline (HMNQ), and long-chain rhamnolipid contained in *B. thailandensis* OMVs.

A myxobacterium, *Cystobacter velatus* (strain *cbv34*), showed inhibitory activity over *E. coli*, and the liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LCMS) showed the presence of cystobactamids in the OMVs (Schulz *et al.*, 2018). Cystobactamids are bacterial isomerase inhibitors (Baumann *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 1. 2: Illustration of the OMVS transporting antibiotics (a) or antibiotic resistance genes(b) and the degradation of the antibiotics (Schwechheimer & Kuehn, 2015).

1.3.4 OMVs pathogenesis and virulence

OMVs transport and deliver toxins and virulence factors that help bacteria to invade the host cells and modulate their immune response (**Fig 1.3**). Furthermore, the toxins and virulence factors can also hijack the host's nutrient-acquiring machinery (Jan, 2017). Firstly, when bacteria interact with their hosts, they release OMVs with adhesin molecules, and this has been reported in *Helicobacter pylori* which produced OMVs with VacA adhesin (Parker *et al.*, 2010). Adhesins are very important during the pathogenesis and colonisation of host tissues as they mediate coaggregation (Kulp & Kuehn, 2010). OMVs from Enterotoxigenic *E. coli* reportedly release more heat-labile enterotoxin (LT) (Gankema *et al.*, 1980). On the other hand, *P. aeruginosa* OMVs are associated with virulence factors such as alkaline phosphatase, hemolytic phospholipase C, and Cif, delivered to their host through the N-wasp channel, which delivers the OMVs in the cytoplasm (Bomberger *et al.*, 2009). In mammalian studies, *Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans* and *Campylobacter jejuni* OMVs are enriched with

toxic proteins such as cytolethal distending toxin (CDT), which are toxins that cause mammalian DNA damage (Lindmark *et al.*, 2009, Rompikuntal *et al.*, 2012).

1.3.5 OMVs as public goods

Most of the studies have focused on OMVs as a negative system, but could these OMVs serve as public goods in microbial communities? Allan & Beveridge (2003) have shown that P. aeruginosa OMVs can transfer OMVs to B. cepacia, thus promoting gentamycin resistance. Therefore, this ability may prove beneficial within microbial communities during antibiotic treatment. OMVs can provide nutrients in various ways. OMVs-associated enzymes have been reported to break down substrates and secure nutrients that can be used within bacterial communities (Elhenawy et al., 2014). Besides the transfer of molecules, OMVs that are used in nutrient-limiting environments to eliminate competitors may also increase nutrient availability to the surviving bacteria. Biller et al. (2014) reported that Prochlorococcus vesicles could support the growth of heterotrophic bacteria through the carbon influx systems. OMVs from Mycobacterium tuberculosis can carry high amounts of an iron-chelating molecule, mycobactin, which forms iron-scavenging OMVs (Prados-Rosales et al., 2014). Once released into the environment, these mycobactin-OMVs can now be accessed by neighbour bacteria as a community resource, thereby contributing to the social life of that community (West et al., 2007). OMVs can also be used by bacterial hosts, for example, *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato T1 OMVs carry superoxide dismutase, an antioxidative enzyme used in cased of high production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) when plants are exposed to excessive stress.

1.4 Outer membrane vesicles in *Pectobacterium*

The production of OMVs in *Pectobacterium* was first reported in 1992, with the characterisation reported between 2020 and 2021 (Fukuoka, 1992, Piotrowska *et al.*, 2020, Jonca *et al.*, 2021, Maphosa & Moleleki, 2021). To date, the characterisation of OMVs was reported in *Pectobacterium zantedeschiae*, *P. ordoriferum*, *P. versatile*, *P. brasiliense* 1692 (*Pbr*1692), and *P. betavasculorum* (Piotrowska *et al.*, 2020, Jonca *et al.*, 2021, Maphosa & Moleleki, 2021).

Proteomics studies revealed that *Pectobacterium* OMVs harbour Cdi effectors and Cdi toxins responsible for contact independent inhibition, which is suspected of playing a role in the competition (Jonca *et al.*, 2021, Maphosa & Moleleki, 2021). Amongst the identified proteins were PCWDEs which are widely responsible for the maceration of potato tubers, and this further shows that OMVs may play a role in *Pectobacterium* pathogenesis (Jonca *et al.*, 2021,

Maphosa & Moleleki, 2021). In addition, *Pectobacterium* OMVs are suspected of mediating antibiotic resistance through deflecting bacteriophages and carrying β -lactamases (Jonca *et al.*, 2021, Maphosa & Moleleki, 2021). The characteristics of the OMVs produced by *Pectobacterium* further show that OMVs play a role in microbial communities.



Figure 1. 3: OMVs package, transport, and deliver toxins to the bacteria of interest (Schwechheimer & Kuehn, 2015).

1.5 Understanding the isolation of OMVs

The critical aspect of the study of OMVs is obtaining OMVs from bacterial cells. The isolation of OMVs includes the removal of intact bacterial cells through centrifugation, followed by removing the residual cells through a vacuum pump filtration system and high-speed centrifugation (Klimentová & Stulík, 2015). It should be noted that the sizes of OMVs vary amongst bacterial species. Therefore, the membrane pore size corresponds to the bacterial cells (Klimentová & Stulík, 2015).

Several studies have used the precipitation method or the ultrafiltration system to concentrate the OMVs and subsequently collected the OMVs via ultracentrifugation (Chutkan *et al.*, 2013). Some researchers have opted to use crude OMVs for their studies with just polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane filtration after ultracentrifugation (Ko *et al.*, 2016, Deo *et al.*, 2018). In contrast, some proceed to various methods that allow the removal of possible contaminants (Kwon *et al.*, 2009, Wang *et al.*, 2020). The multiple methods include multiple washes to purify the pellet or sucrose gradient ultracentrifugation and Size Exclusion

Chromatography (SEC) with Sepharose CL-2B column (Schulz *et al.*, 2018). However, it should be noted that the use of crude OMVs and what is considered purer OMVs showed similar results.

One of the challenges in OMVs isolation and purification is low concentration, and unfortunately, the concentration of OMVs could be affected at every step of the isolation (Chutkan *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, gentle preparation and improvisations are required to obtain a higher OMV concentration, and this includes taking into account the amount of the resuspension buffer that should correlate with the size or the visibility of a pellet (Chutkan *et al.*, 2013). Notably, the concentration of OMVs affects antimicrobial activity (Li *et al.*, 1998).

Based on the literature review, we designed a study to investigate the role of OMVs from *Pbr*1692 in microbial communities. The study's objectives were to establish the interaction between *Pbr*1692 and *P. parasitica* INRA 310 through antagonism assays and to investigate the effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on SREs and *P. parasitica*. The last objective was to utilise phenotypic microarray (PM) technology to examine the role of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on the metabolism of *P. parasitica* INRA 310. This study will significantly contribute to the understanding of OMVs in microbial communities and possible ways they may be employed in agriculture for the survival and control of crops and microorganisms, respectively.

1.6 References

- Allan N & Beveridge T (2003) Gentamicin delivery *Burkholderia cepacia* Group IIIa strains via membrane vesicles from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy **47**: 2962-2965.
- Ashmawy N, Jadalla N, Shoeib A & Bebany A (2015) Identification and genetic characterization of *Pectobacterium* spp. and related *Enterobacteriaceae* causing potato soft rot diseases in Egypt. *Journal of Pure and Applied Microbiology* **9**: 1847-1858.
- Baumann S, Herrmann J, Raju R, Steinmetz H, Mohr K, Hüttel S, Harmrolfs K, Stadler M & Müller R (2014) Cystobactamids: Myxobacterial topoisomerase inhibitors exhibiting potent antibacterial activity. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 53: 14605-14609.
- Berleman J & Auer M (2013) The role of bacterial outer membrane vesicles for intra- and interspecies delivery. *Environmental Microbiology* **15**: 347-354.
- Bernal P, Llamas M & Filloux A (2018) Type VI secretion systems in plant-associated bacteria. *Environmental Microbiology* 20: 1-15.
- Beveridge T (1999) Structures of gram-negative cell walls and their derived membrane vesicles. *Journal of Bacteriology* **181**: 4725-4733.
- Biller S, Schubotz F, Roggensack S, Thompson A, Summons R & Chisholm S (2014) Bacterial vesicles in marine ecosystems. *Science* **343**: 183.
- Bishop D & Work E (1965) An extracellular glycolipid produced by *Escherichia coli* grown under lysine-limiting conditions. *The Biochemical journal* **96**: 567-576.
- Bomberger J, MacEachran D, Coutermarsh B, Ye S, O'Toole G & Stanton B (2009) Longdistance delivery of bacterial virulence factors by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* outer membrane vesicles. *PLOS Pathogens* 5: 4725-4733.
- Braga R, Dourado M & Araújo WL (2016) Microbial interactions: ecology in a molecular perspective. *Brazillian Journal of Microbiology* **475**: 86-98.
- Brameyer S, Plener L, Müller A, Klingl A, Wanner G & Jung K (2018) Outer membrane vesicles facilitate trafficking of the hydrophobic signaling molecule CAI-1 between *Vibrio harveyi* cells. *Journal of Bacteriology* **200**: e00740-00717.
- Brown L, Wolf J, Prados-Rosales R & Casadevall A (2015) Through the wall: extracellular vesicles in Gram-positive bacteria, mycobacteria and fungi. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 13: 630-640.
- Caruana J & Walper S (2020) Bacterial membrane vesicles as mediators of microbe microbe and microbe host community interactions. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **11**.

- Chan K, Shone C & Hesp J (2017) Antibiotics and iron-limiting conditions and their effect on the production and composition of outer membrane vesicles secreted from clinical isolates of extraintestinal pathogenic *E. coli. Proteomics: Clinical Applications* **11**.
- Charkowski A, Blanco C, Condemine G, Expert D, Franza T, Hayes C, Hugouvieux-Cotte-Pattat N, Solanilla E, Low D, Moleleki L, Pirhonen M, Pitman A, Perna N, Reverchon S, Rodríguez Palenzuela P, San Francisco M, Toth I, Tsuyumu S, van der Waals J, van der Wolf J, Van Gijsegem F, Yang C & Yedidia I (2011) The Role of Secretion Systems and Small Molecules in Soft-Rot *Enterobacteriaceae* Pathogenicity. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **50**: 425-449.
- Chutkan H, Macdonald I, Manning A & Kuehn M (2013) Quantitative and qualitative preparations of bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Bacterial cell surfaces*, Vol. 966 (Delcour A, ed.) p.^pp. 259-269. Springer Science New York.
- Czajkowski R, Pérombelon M, van Veen J & van der Wolf J (2011) Control of blackleg and tuber soft rot of potato caused by *Pectobacterium* and *Dickeya* species: a review. *Plant Pathology* **60**: 999-1013.
- Deo P, Chow S, Hay I, Kleifeld O, Costin A, Elgass K, Jiang J, Ramm G, Gabriel K, Dougan G, Lithgow T, Heinz E & Naderer T (2018) Outer membrane vesicles from *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae target PorB to mitochondria and induce apoptosis. *PLOS Pathogens* 14: 33-46.
- Duarte V, De Boer S, Ward L & de Oliveira A (2004) Characterization of atypical *Erwinia carotovora* strains causing blackleg of potato in Brazil. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 96: 535-545.
- Dutta S, Iida K, Takade A, Meno Y, Nair G & Yoshida S (2004) Release of Shiga toxin by membrane vesicles in *Shigella dysenteriae* serotype 1 strains and in vitro effects of antimicrobials on toxin production and release. *Microbiology and immunology* **48**: 965-969.
- Elhenawy W, MO D, MF F, Whiteley M & Greenberg E (2014) Preferential packing of acidic glycosidases and proteases into *Bacteroides* outer membrane vesicles. *mBio* **5**: e00909-00914.
- Ellis T & Kuehn M (2010) Virulence and immunomodulatory roles of bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 74: 81-94.
- Evans A, Davey H, Cookson A, Currinn H, Cooke-Fox G, Stanczyk P & Whitworth D (2012) Predatory activity of *Myxococcus xanthus* outer-membrane vesicles and properties of their hydrolase cargo. *Microbiology* **158**: 2742-2752.

- Fukuoka S (1992) Spontaneous release of outer membrane vesicles by *Erwinia carotovora*. *Microbios* 72: 167-173.
- Furuta N, Tsuda K Fau Omori H, Omori H Fau Yoshimori T, Yoshimori T Fau Yoshimura F, Yoshimura F Fau Amano A & Amano A (2009) *Porphyromonas gingivalis* outer membrane vesicles enter human epithelial cells via an endocytic pathway and are sorted to lysosomal compartments. *Infection and Immunity* **77**: 4187-4196.
- Gallup A, Sullivan M & Shew H (2006) Black shank of tobacco. Plant Health Instructor.
- Gankema H, Wensink J, Guinée P, Jansen W & Witholt B (1980) Some characteristics of the outer membrane material released by growing enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. *Infection and Immunity* **29**: 704-713.
- Gill S, Catchpole R & Forterre P (2019) Extracellular membrane vesicles in the three domains of life and beyond. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* **43**: 273-303.
- Grinter R, Milner J & Walker D (2012) Ferredoxin containing bacteriocins suggest a novel mechanism of iron uptake in *Pectobacterium* spp. *PLOS ONE* **7**: e33033.
- Guerrero-Mandujano A, Hernández-Cortez C, Ibarra J & Castro-Escarpulli G (2017) The outer membrane vesicles: Secretion system type zero. *Traffic* **18**: 425-432.
- Horstman A & Kuehn M (2002) Bacterial surface association of heat-labile enterotoxin through lipopolysaccharide after secretion via the general secretory pathway *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 32538-32545.
- Jäger J, Keese S, Roessle M, Steinert M & Schromm A (2015) Fusion of Legionella pneumophila outer membrane vesicles with eukaryotic membrane systems is a mechanism to deliver pathogen factors to host cell membranes. Cellular Microbiology 17: 607-620.
- Jan A (2017) Outer Membrane Vesicles (OMVs) of gram-negative bacteria: A perspective update. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **9**: 1053.
- Jin J, Kwon S, Moon D, Gurung M, Lee J, Kim S & Lee J (2011) Acinetobacter baumannii secretes cytotoxic outer membrane protein a via outer membrane vesicles. PLOS ONE 6: e17027.
- Johnstone T & Nolan E (2015) Beyond iron: non-classical biological functions of bacterial siderophores. *Dalton Transactions* **44**: 6320-6339.
- Jonca J, Waleron M, Czaplewska P, Bogucka A, Steć A, Dziomba S, Jasiecki J, Rychłowski M & Waleron K (2021) Membrane vesicles of *Pectobacterium* as an effective protein secretion system. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 22.
- Kadurugamuwa J & Beveridge T (1995) Virulence factors are released from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in association with membrane vesicles during normal growth and exposure to

gentamicin: a novel mechanism of enzyme secretion. *Journal of Bacteriology* **177**: 3998–4008.

- Kadurugamuwa J & Beveridge T (1996) Bacteriolytic effect of membrane vesicles from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* on other bacteria including pathogens: conceptually new antibiotics. *Journal of Bacteriology* **178**: 2767-2774.
- Kadurugamuwa J, Mayer A, Messner P, Sára M, Sleytr U & Beveridge T (1998) S-Layered Aneurinibacillus and Bacillus spp. Are susceptible to the lytic action of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Membrane Vesicles. *Journal of Bacteriology* **180**: 2306-2311.
- Katsir L & Bahar O (2017) Bacterial outer membrane vesicles at the plant–pathogen interface. *PLOS Pathogens* **13**: e1006306.
- Kim S, Park S, Im S, Lee J, Jung J, Gong T, Lazarte J, Kim J, Seo J, Kim J, Song J, Jung H, Kim G, Lee Y, Lim S & Jung T (2018) Outer membrane vesicles from β-lactam-resistant *Escherichia coli* enable the survival of β-lactam-susceptible *E. coli* in the presence of βlactam antibiotics. *Scientific Reports* 8: 5402.
- Klimentová J & Stulík J (2015) Methods of isolation and purification of outer membrane vesicles from gram-negative bacteria. *Microbiological Research* **170**: 1-9.
- Ko S, Rho D, Jeon J, Kim Y, Woo H, Kim N & Kim J (2016) Crude preparations of *Helicobacter pylori* outer membrane vesicles induce upregulation of heme oxygenase-1 via activating Akt-Nrf2 and mTOR-IκB kinase-NF-κB pathways in dendritic cells. *Infection and Immunity* **84**: 2162-2174.
- Kuehn M & Kesty N (2005) Bacterial outer membrane vesicles and the host-pathogen interaction. *Genes & Development* **19**: 2645-2655.
- Kulp A & Kuehn M (2010) Biological functions and biogenesis of secreted bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Annual review of microbiology* 64: 163-184.
- Kwon S, Gho Y, Lee J & Kim S (2009) Proteome analysis of outer membrane vesicles from a clinical *Acinetobacter baumannii isolate*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **297**: 150-156.
- Lai C, Listgarten M & Hammond B (1981) Comparative ultrastructure of leukotoxic and nonleukotoxic strains of Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans. Journal of Periodontal Research 16: 379-389.
- Larousse M & Galiana E (2017) Microbial partnerships of pathogenic oomycetes. *PLOS Pathogens* **13**: e1006028.
- Lee J, Kim O & Gho Y (2016) Proteomic profiling of gram-negative bacterial outer membrane vesicles: current perspectives. *Proteomics Clinical applications* **10**: 897-909.

- Lekmeechai S, Su Y, Brant M, Alvarado-Kristensson M, Vallström A, Obi I, Arnqvist A & Riesbeck K (2018) *Helicobacter pylori* outer membrane vesicles protect the pathogen from reactive oxygen species of the respiratory burst. *Frontiers in microbiology* **9**: 1837-1837.
- Li Z, Clarke A & Beveridge T (1998) Gram-negative bacteria produce membrane vesicles which are capable of killing other bacteria. *Journal of Bacteriology* **180**: 5478-5843.
- Liao Y, Kuo S, Chiang M, Lee Y, Sung W, Chen Y, Chen T & Fung C (2015) Acinetobacter baumannii extracellular OXA-58 is primarily and selectively released via Outer Membrane Vesicles after Sec-dependent periplasmic translocation. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 59: 7346-7358.
- Lindmark B, Rompikuntal P, Vaitkevicius K, Song T, Mizunoe Y, Uhlin B, Guerry P & Wai S (2009) Outer membrane vesicle-mediated release of cytolethal distending toxin (CDT) from *Campylobacter jejuni*. *BMC Microbiology* **9**: 220.
- Ma L, Hachani A, Lin J, Filloux A & Lai E (2014) *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* deploys a superfamily of type VI secretion DNase effectors as weapons for interbacterial competition in planta. *Cell host & microbe* **16**: 94-104.
- MacDonald I & Kuehn M (2012) Offense and defense: microbial membrane vesicles play both ways. *Research in Microbiology* **163**: 607-618.
- Macdonald I & Kuehn M (2013) Stress-induced outer membrane vesicle production by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Journal of Bacteriology* **195**.
- Manning A & Kuehn M (2011) Contribution of bacterial outer membrane vesicles to innate bacterial defense. *BMC Microbiology* **11**: 258.
- Maphosa S & Moleleki L (2021) Isolation and characterization of outer membrane vesicles of *Pectobacterium brasiliense 1692. Microorganisms* **9**: 1918.
- McBroom A & Kuehn M (2007) Release of outer membrane vesicles by Gram-negative bacteria is a novel envelope stress response. *Molecular Microbiology* **63**: 545-558.
- McBroom A, Johnson A, Vemulapalli S & Kuehn M (2006) Outer membrane vesicle production by *Escherichia coli* Is independent of membrane instability. *Journal of Bacteriology* **188**: 5385-5392.
- McGowan S, Barnard A, Bosgelmez G, Sebaihia M, Simpson N, Thomson N, Welch M, NA W & Salmond G (2005) Carbapenem antibiotic biosynthesis in *Erwinia carotovora* is regulated by physiological and genetic factors modulating the quorum sensing-dependent control pathway. *Molecular Microbiology* 55: 526–545.

- Meers P, Liu C, Chen R, Bartos W, Davis J, Dziedzic N, Orciuolo J, Kutyla S, Pozo M, Mithrananda D, Panzera D & Wang S (2018) Vesicular delivery of the antifungal antibiotics of Lysobacter enzymogenes C3. American Society of Microbiology 84: e01353-01318.
- Meletis G (2016) Carbapenem resistance: overview of the problem and future perspectives. *Therapeutic advances in infectious disease* **3**: 15-21.
- Merwe J, Coutinho T, Korsten L & Waals J (2010) Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. brasiliensis causing blackleg on potatoes in South Africa. European Journal of Plant Pathology 126: 175-185.
- Monson R, Jones K & Salmond G (2018) Draft genome sequence of *Pectobacterium* carotovorum subsp. carotovorum ATCC 39048, a carbapenem-producing phytopathogen. *Microbiology Resource Announcements* 7: e00825-00818.
- Nagakubo T, Nomura N & Toyofuku M (2020) Cracking open bacterial membrane vesicles. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **10**.
- Papp-Wallace K, Endimiani A, Taracila M & Bonomo R (2011) Carbapenems: past, present, and future. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **55**: 4943-4960.
- Parker H, Chitcholtan K Fau Hampton M, Hampton Mb Fau Keenan J & Keenan J (2010) Uptake of *Helicobacter pylori* outer membrane vesicles by gastric epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity* 25: 5054-5061.
- Peleg A, Hogan D & Mylonakis E (2010) Medically important bacterial–fungal interactions. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 8: 340-349.
- Pérez-Cruz C, Cañas M, Giménez R, Badia J, Mercade E, Baldomà L & Aguilera L (2016) Membrane vesicles released by a hypervesiculating *Escherichia coli Nissle 1917* tolR mutant are highly heterogeneous and show reduced capacity for epithelial cell interaction and entry. *PLOS ONE* 11: e0169186.
- Pérombelon M (2002) Potato diseases caused by soft rot *erwinias*: an overview of pathogenesis. *Plant Pathology* **51**: 1-12.
- Piotrowska M, Ciura K, Zalewska M, Dawid M, Correia B, Sawicka P, Lewczuk B, Kasprzyk J, Sola L, Piekoszewski W, Wielgomas B, Waleron K & Dziomba S (2020) Capillary zone electrophoresis of bacterial extracellular vesicles: A proof of concept. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1621: 461047.
- Prados-Rosales R, Weinrick Bc Fau Piqué D, Piqué Dg Fau Jacobs W, Jacobs Wr Jr Fau Casadevall A, Casadevall A Fau Rodriguez G & Rodriguez GM (2014) Role for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* membrane vesicles in iron acquisition. *Journal of Bacteriology* 196: 1250–1256.

- Renelli M, Matias V, Lo R & Beveridge T (2004) DNA-containing membrane vesicles of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 and their genetic transformation potential. *Microbiology* 150: 2161-2169.
- Roh E, Park T, Kim M, Lee S, Ryu S, Oh C, Rhee S, Kim D, Park B & Heu S (2010) Characterization of a new bacteriocin, Carocin D, from *Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. carotovorum Pcc21*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **76**: 7541-7549.
- Rompikuntal P, Thay B, Khan M, Alanko J, Penttinen A, Asikainen S, Wai S & Oscarsson J (2012) Perinuclear localization of internalized outer membrane vesicles carrying active cytolethal distending toxin from *Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans*. *Infection and immunity* **80**: 31-42.
- Rosenzweig N, Steere L, Hammerschmidt R & Kirk W (2016) Tuber soft rot, blackleg and aerial stem rot. p.^pp. 1-4. Michigan State University Extension, Michigan.
- Roszkowiak J, Jajor P, Guła G, Gubernator J, Żak A, Drulis-Kawa Z & Augustyniak D (2006) Interspecies outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) modulate the sensitivity of pathogenic bacteria and pathogenic yeasts to cationic peptides and serum complement *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **20**: 5577.
- Sabra W, Lünsdorf H & Zeng A (2003) Alterations in the formation of lipopolysaccharide and membrane vesicles on the surface of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 under oxygen stress conditions. *Microbiology* 149: 2789-2795.
- Schaar V, Nordström T, Mörgelin M & Riesbeck K (2011) Outer membrane vesicles carry βlactamase and promote survival of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*; *Haemophilus influenzae* by inactivating Amoxicillin. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **55**: 3845-3853.
- Schink B (2002) Synergistic interactions in the microbial world. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* **81**: 257-261.
- Schulz E, Goes A, Garcia R, Panter F, Koch M, Müller R, Fuhrmann K & Fuhrmann G (2018) Biocompatible bacteria-derived vesicles show inherent antimicrobial activity. *Journal of Controlled Release* 290: 46-65.
- Schwechheimer C & Kuehn M (2015) Outer-membrane vesicles from Gram-negative bacteria: biogenesis and functions. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **13**: 605-619.
- Shyntum D, Nkomo N, Shingange N, Gricia A, Bellieny-RD & Moleleki L (2019) The impact of type VI secretion system, bacteriocins and antibiotics on bacterial competition of *Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. brasiliense* and the regulation of carbapenem biosynthesis by iron and the ferric-uptake regulator. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **10**: 2379.
- Tashiro Y, Yawata Y, Toyofuku M, Uchiyama H & Nomura N (2013) Interspecies interaction between *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and other microorganisms. *Microbes and Environments* 28: 13-24.
- Taylor R, Pasche J & Gudmestad N (2014) Etiology of a tuber rot and foliar blight of potato caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae*. *Plant Disease* **99**: 474-481.
- Taylor R, Pasche J, Gallup C, Shew H & Gudmestad N (2008) A foliar blight and tuber rot of potato caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae*: new occurrences and characterization of isolates. *Plant Disease* 92: 492-503.
- Toth I, van der Wolf J, Saddler G, Lojkowska E, Hélias V, Pirhonen M, Tsror L & Elphinstone J (2011) Dickeya species: an emerging problem for potato production in Europe. *Plant Pathology* **60**: 385-399.
- Toyofuku M, Nakajima-Kambe T Fau U H, Uchiyama H Fau Nomura N & Nomura N (2009) The effect of a cell-to-cell communication molecule, *Pseudomonas* quinolone signal (PQS), produced by *P. aeruginosa* on other bacterial species. *Microbes and Environments* 25: 1-7.
- Tshikantwa T, Ullah M, He F & Yang G (2018) Current trends and potential applications of microbial interactions for human welfare. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **9**: 1156.
- Vasilyeva N, Tsfasman I, Suzina N, Stepnaya O & Kulaev I (2008) Secretion of bacteriolytic endopeptidase L5 of *Lysobacter* sp. XL1 into the medium by means of outer membrane vesicles. *The FEBS Journal* 275: 3827-3835.
- Wang Y, Hoffmann J, Chou CW, Höner Zu Bentrup K, Fuselier J, Bitoun J, Wimley W & Morici L (2020) *Burkholderia thailandensis* outer membrane vesicles exert antimicrobial activity against drug-resistant and competitor microbial species. *Journal of Microbiology* 58: 550-567.
- West S, Diggle S, Buckling A, Gardner A & Griffin A (2007) The Social Lives of Microbes. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics **38**: 53-77.
- Whitchurch CB, Tolker-Nielsen T, Ragas P & Mattick J (2002) Extracellular DNA required for bacterial biofilm formation. *Science* **295**: 1487.
- Yang J, Hwang I, Lee E, Shin S, Lee E, J, Rhee J & Yu J (2020) Bacterial outer membrane vesicle-mediated cytosolic delivery of flagellin triggers host NLRC4 canonical inflammasome signaling. *Frontiers in Immunology* 11: 581165.
- Yaron S, Kolling G, Simon L & Matthews K (2000) Vesicle-mediated transfer of virulence genes from *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to other enteric bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66: 4414-4420.

- Yue H, Jiang J, Taylor A, Leite A, Dodds E & Du L (2021) Outer membrane vesicle-mediated codelivery of the antifungal HSAF metabolites and lytic polysaccharide monooxygenase in the predatory *Lysobacter enzymogenes*. *ACS Chemical Biology* **16**: 1079-1089.
- Zhou L, Srisatjaluk R, Justus D & Doyle R (1998) On the origin of membrane vesicles in gramnegative bacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **163**: 223-228.
- Zingl F, Thapa H, Scharf M, Kohl P, Müller A & Schild S (2021) Outer membrane vesicles of *Vibrio cholerae* protect and deliver active cholera toxin to host cells via porin-dependent uptake. *mBio* 12: e0053421.

Chapter two

2.1 Methods and materials

2.1.1 Strain growth conditions

Pectobacterium brasiliense 1692 (Charkowski, 2018), *Dickeya dadantii* LMG 25911^{T(Type strain)} (Samson *et al.*, 2005), *P. carotovorum* (FABI) and *P. parmentieri* ATCC 43316^T (Khayi *et al.*, 2016) cultures were incubated at 30 °C, while *P. atrosepticum* ATCC 33260^T (Panda *et al.*, 2015) was incubated at 28 °C. All bacterial cells were shaken at 150 rpm (incubation time varies as per experiment). The bacterial cultures were grown in Luria Bertani (LB) media, where necessary, supplemented with 15 μ g/ml gentamicin (Sigma-Aldrich, South Africa). *P. parasitica* isolates (FABI) were grown in V8 agar, and cornmeal media (CMA) incubated at 25 °C.

2.1.2 Electrocompetent cells and transformations

Following the protocol described by Shyntum et al. (2019), Dickeya dadantii, P. carotovorum, and P. parmentieri were grown overnight at 30 °C, while P. atrosepticum was grown at 28 °C, shaking at 150 rpm for 16 hrs. One millilitre (1 ml) of each culture was separately inoculated in 100 ml LB broth and incubated at either 30 °C or 28 °C, shaking at 150 rpm for 2-3 hrs until an OD600 = 0.4 was reached. Subsequently, 50 ml of each culture was transferred into 50 ml centrifuge tubes, pre-cooled on ice, and centrifuged for 8 mins at 6000 rpm and 4 °C. The pellets were resuspended in dH₂O (50 ml, 40 ml, and 30 ml) and centrifuged for 8 mins at 6000 rpm for each volume. After the 30 ml dH₂O wash, the pellets were resuspended in 10% (v/v) glycerol, centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 8 mins at 4 °C, and resuspended in 2 ml 10% glycerol and stored at -80 °C before use. Plasmid pMP7605 conferring gentamicin resistance was added in 20 µl bacterial cells chilled in cuvettes. The cuvettes were then placed on the electroporation machine, and the gentamicin plasmid was transformed into bacterial cells through electrical shock. A volume of 200 µl LB broth was aliquoted into the transformants, resuspended, and transferred to an Eppendorf tube with 600 µl LB and the cells were recovered by incubating at either 30 °C or 28 °C, shaking at 150 rpm for 2 hrs. Each bacteria suspension was separately plated on gentamicin-supplemented agar plates for subsequent experiments.

2.1.3 Isolation of OMVs

*Pbr*1692 OMVs were isolated as described by Maphosa & Moleleki (2021), *Pbr*1692 cultures were grown overnight for 12 hrs until an $OD_{600} = 0.8 - 0.9$ was reached. The overnight cultures were centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 30 mins at 4 °C to pellet the cells. Using the vacuum filtration system, the supernatant was filtered through a stericup 0.22 µl membrane (Merck). The Amicon

centrifugal filter units (10-50 kDa, Merck) were used to concentrate the supernatant at 2500 rpm for 25 mins. Subsequently, the supernatants were centrifuged using an ultracentrifuge at 36 000 rpm at 4 °C for 5 hrs. The pellet obtained was resuspended in Phosphate buffered saline (PBS buffer) and washed in PBS buffer by centrifuging for 1 hour at 36 000 rpm. The pellet was resuspended in a PBS buffer. The protein concentration that makes up the OMVs was approximated using Bradford assay (Bio-Rad) and nanodrop spectrophotometer, and it ranged between 6 mg/ml to 7 mg/ml, which are the concentrations used in the forthcoming experiments. The samples were stored at -20 °C and -80 °C.

2.1.4 Transmission electron microscopy

Negative staining: To confirm and visualise the isolated OMVs, negative staining was performed according to Wang *et al.* (2020). OMVs were placed on a copper grid for 3 mins and stained with 1% uranyl acetate for 20 mins until they dried out. The samples were visualised through FEGTEM Joel 2100 microscope.

Thin section: As described by Maphosa & Moleleki (2021), *Pbr*1692 cells were cultivated overnight for 12 hrs. The cells were pelleted at 6000 rpm for 5 mins. The pelleted cells were washed with 0.075 M phosphate buffer and fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde at room temperature for 3 mins. Subsequently, the pellet was rinsed three times with phosphate buffer. The cells were post-fixed with 1% Osmium tetroxide (OsO₄) for 30 mins and pelleted. The pelleted cells were dehydrated through a series of ethanol (30%, 50%, 70%, 90% all v/v, and 3x100%); thereafter, the cells were left in 100% ethanol for dehydrated cells for 1 hour and pelleted. The cells were then left in an epoxy resin mixture for 1 hour before being embedded in epoxy resin for another 1 hour, then incubated in an oven for 24 hrs for polymerisation. The cells were trimmed and sectioned, then mounted on the copper grid stained with 1% v/v uranyl acetate.

2.1.5 The effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on soft rot *Enterobacteriaceae*

The effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs was screened through co-inoculations assays, following the protocol described by Shyntum *et al.* (2019). The targeted bacterial cells, namely *D. dadantii*, *P. atrosepticum*, *P. carotovorum*, and *P. parmentieri* transformed with gentamicin plasmid pPM7605 were grown at 30 °C or 28 °C, shaking at 150 rpm for 16 hrs, subsequently standardised to an $OD_{600} = 0.1$, and individually mixed with *Pbr*1692 OMVs (7 mg/ml) to a ratio of 1vol:1vol. The mixed suspensions were inoculated at the centre of the LB agar plates

and left to air dry. The bacterial plates were grown at 30 °C or 28 °C for approximately 12 hrs, and the colony was scrapped and resuspended in ddH_2O ; serial dilutions were performed and plated on gentamicin-supplemented agar plates. The bacterial plates were incubated for 12-14 hrs, colonies were counted, and the results were presented as CFU/ml.

2.1.6 The effect of *Pbr*1692 cells on *Phytophthora parasitica* INRA 310

2.1.6.1 Antagonism assays

To investigate whether *Pbr*1692 cells interacted with *P. parasitica* INRA 310, *in vitro* competition assays were employed through the bacteria-oomycete dual culture method, according to Chen *et al.* (2018). *P. parasitica* INRA 310 was grown for 7 days on V8 agar media, and a mycelium plug was obtained from the edges of the growing culture using a 4 mm cork borer. This was then placed on a 9 cm cornmeal agar plate. *Pbr*1692 cells were standardised ($OD_{600} = 0.5$) and inoculated 2 cm from the mycelium plug. Double-distilled water was used as the negative control. The experiments were all performed in triplicates, repeated three independent times, and incubated and monitored at 25 °C for 5 days. The radius of the mycelium growth was then measured from the centre 5 days following incubation.

2.1.6.2 *Pbr*1692 cells on *Phytophthora parasitica* INRA 310 zoospore germination and motility

Germination of the zoospores was performed on micro slides (Lasec®) using the protocol described by Regente *et al.* (2017) with modifications. Briefly, *P. parasitica* INRA 310 was grown on V8 agar media for 7 days. Thereafter, 10% (w/v) soil water was prepared, poured on the *P. parasitica* mycelial plates and cultures incubated for 48 hrs under light to induce sporangia. To induce *P. parasitica* zoospores, soil water was poured out, replaced with 4 °C cold water, and incubated for 1 to 3 hrs at room temperature. *Pbr*1692 cells were grown overnight. The micro slide was inoculated with 4% (w/v) glucose and approximately 1500 zoospores, 4% (w/v) glucose, and *Pbr*1692 cells (OD₆₀₀ = 0.5) adjusted to 20 µl and covered with coverslips. The micro slides were placed in a tightly sealed container and incubated at 25 °C for 16 hrs. Double-distilled water was used as a negative control. The results were evaluated using Zeiss brightfield microscopy.

Scanning electron microscopy of Pbr1692 cells

Following the protocol described by Maphosa & Moleleki (2021) with slight changes, *Pbr*1692 cells grown for 12-13 hrs were incubated with approximately 70 000 zoospores of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 and 4% (w/v) glucose in a total volume of 1.7 ml and incubated for 16

hrs with ddH₂O as the negative control. The samples were pelleted at 4000 rpm for 4 mins and washed with 0.75 M phosphate wash buffer for 15 mins on a rotor. Samples were fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde for 1 hour and hydrated with a graded series of ethanol (30%, 50%, 70%, 90%, and 3x 100%) for 15 mins per hydration cycle. After that, the samples were left in the third 100% ethanol hydration for 30 mins. The samples were pelleted and embedded in a hexamethyldisilazane (HDMS): ethanol mixture for 1 hour. Subsequently, the samples were added to fresh HDMS and left to dry. The samples were mounted on aluminium stubs, coated with carbon, and visualised using Zeiss Scanning Electron Microscope (FE-SEM) at 2kv. The experiment was conducted in triplicates.

The effect of Pbr1692 cells on Phytophthora parasitica zoospore motility

Phytophthora parasitica INRA 310 zoospores were induced from the 7 days mycelium plates that were soaked with soil water and then poured out and replaced with cold water. The *Pbr*1692 cells were grown overnight and standardised ($OD_{600} = 0.5$), and *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores were mixed at a 1 vol: 1vol ratio and incubated for 3 hrs recording the motility every 30 mins using a mobile device and ddH₂O as the negative control. This experiment was repeated three independent times.

2.1.7 The effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on *Phytophthora parasitica* mycelium

To investigate the antimicrobial activity of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on *P. parasitica* mycelium, the targeted assay was performed according to Meers *et al.* (2018) with slight modifications. A 4 mm mycelium plug was excised from the edges of the 7-day *P. parasitica* mycelium culture and inoculated at the centre of a 9 mm CMA plate, then incubated for 3 days at 25 °C. The sterilised filter papers were inoculated with the OMVs at two different concentrations of 3 mg/ml and 6 mg/ml. *Pbr*1692 cells ($OD_{600} = 0.5$) were grown overnight, and a negative control PBS buffer was prepared, left to air dry, and placed at the edges of the 3-day-old mycelium plate. The experiment was incubated for 2 more days at 25 °C, conducted in triplicates, and repeated three times.

2.1.8 *Pbr*1692 OMVs on *Phytophthora parasitica* INRA 310 zoospore germination and motility

Germination of the zoospores was performed on micro slides using a protocol described by Regente *et al.* (2017). Briefly, *P. parasitica* INRA 310 was grown on V8 agar media for 7 days. Thereafter, 10% (w/v) soil water was prepared and poured on the *P. parasitica* INRA 310 mycelial cultures, then incubated for 48 hrs under light to induce sporangia. To induce *P*.

parasitica INRA 310 zoospores, soil water was poured out and replaced with 4 °C cold water; thereafter, incubated for 1 to 3 hrs at room temperature. An aliquot of 10 μ l of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores (~1500 zoospores), 4% (w/v) glucose, and *Pbr*1692 OMVs (6 mg/ml) to the final volume of 20 μ l were added on micro slides. The slides were placed in a tightly sealed container and incubated at 25 °C, with PBS buffer serving as a negative control. Zeiss brightfield microscope was used to evaluate the morphology and germination of the zoospores.

Scanning electron microscopy of *Pbr*1692 OMVs

Four hundred microliters (400 μ l) of *Pbr*1692 OMVs or PBS buffer were incubated with 900 μ l *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores (~70 000 zoospores) and 4% (w/v) glucose to a total volume of 1.7 ml for 16 hrs. The samples were pelleted at 4000 rpm for 4 mins and washed with 0.75 M phosphate wash buffer for 15 mins on a rotator. The sample was fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde for 1 hour and hydrated with a graded series of ethanol (30%, 50%, 70%, 90% all v/v, and 3x 100%) for 15 mins per hydration cycle. Notably, at the third 100% ethanol hydration, the sample was incubated for 30 mins. The sample was pelleted and embedded in a hexamethyldisilazane (HDMS): ethanol mixture for 1 hour. The experiment was conducted in triplicates and repeated three times. The samples were added to a fresh HDMS solution and left to dry. Subsequently, they were mounted on aluminium stubs, coated with carbon, and visualised using Zeiss Scanning Electron Microscope (FE-SEM) at 2kv.

The effect of Pbr1692 OMVs on Phytophthora parasitica motility

Phytophthora parasitica zoospores were induced from mycelium that was grown for 7 days at 25 °C and soaked with soil water for 48 hrs. The soil water was poured out and replaced with ice-cold water containing zoospores. The *Pbr*1692 OMVs or PBS buffer as the negative control and *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores were mixed at a 1:1 ratio and incubated at 25 °C for 3 hrs recording the motility on the brightfield microscope every 30 mins using a mobile device. This experiment was repeated three independent times.

2.1.9 Staining of OMVs and their uptake by *Phytophthora parasitica* zoospores Fresh *Pbr*1692 OMVs were labelled with BiotrackerTM 640 C2 (FM4-64) Synaptic dye as described by Regente *et al.* (2017). Briefly, an aliquot of 60 µl of the 6 mg/ml OMVs previously resuspended in PBS buffer isolation was gently mixed with FM4-64 to the final concentration of 1 µg/ml. The sample was incubated on ice for 60 mins and later diluted in 4 ml PBS buffer. The diluted OMV sample was ultracentrifuged at 36 000 rpm for 1 hour at 4 °C to wash off the dye, and the pellet was resuspended in 60 µl PBS buffer kept at -20 or -80 °C. The germination test of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores was performed directly on the micro slide according to Regente *et al.* (2017), with slight modifications. Approximately 2500 *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores were incubated with 2.5 µl labelled OMVs (~6 mg/ml) and 4% (w/v) glucose directly on the slide and placed in a tightly sealed container for 16 hrs at 25 °C PBS buffer as the negative control. The experiment was conducted in duplicates, repeated three independent times, and the images were acquired using Zeiss confocal and fluorescent microscopes.

2.1.10 *Phytophthora parasitica* viability tests

The viability of germinated hypha was investigated using viability assays adapted from Regente *et al.* (2017). About 1500 zoospores were incubated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs and 4% (w/v) glucose on a micro slide and incubated in a tight sealed container for 16 hrs at 25 °C. After the incubation, Evans blue stain (0.05% w/v) was added to the micro slides and left to dry at room temperature. The viability of the zoospores was evaluated on the Zeiss brightfield microscope. Following a similar protocol, membrane permeability assays were performed on the micro slide. Propidium iodide (Millipore Corp) (50 µg/ml) was added on micro slides for 1 hour, and viability was investigated on Zeiss fluorescent microscope using a filter of 530-585 nm excitation and 615 nm emission. Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) was used as the negative control, and the experiment was repeated three independent times.

2.1.11 Phenotypic Microarray

The *P. parasitica* INRA 310 mycelium was grown on CMA plates for seven days at 25 °C. Soil water was prepared and poured on the CMA plates of the mycelium and incubated for approximately 48 hrs to induce sporangia. Subsequently, the soil water was discarded and replaced with ice-cold distilled water to induce the *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores and incubated for 3 hrs at room temperature. The zoospores were harvested by gently rubbing the sterile cotton swab on the mycelium surface, and the haemocytometer counting chamber was used to count the zoospores. Following Biolog protocol (**Appendix A**), approximately 30x10⁷ zoospores were inoculated in the filamentous fungi inoculating fluid (FF-IF) (Biolog, Inc) with the Biolog Redox Mix E dye (Biolog, Inc) and transferred to the 96 wells of PM1 and PM21D (Biolog, Inc) microplates for carbon sources and chemical sensitivity, respectively. Yeast nitrogen base and glucose were used as additives to supplement FF-IF used for the PM21D microplate. The plates were incubated in the Omnilog incubating system for 48 hrs, recording

the results every 15 mins. This experiment was conducted once, in duplicates for PM1 and a single plate for PM21.

2.1.12 *Phytophthora parasitica* carbon source utilisation in the presence of *Pbr*1692 OMVs

To confirm the carbon sources that were utilised by *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores when treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs, *P. parasitica* INRA 310 mycelium was used. *P. parasitica* INRA 310 was grown on V8 media for 7 days; thereafter, 4 mm mycelium plugs were taken from the mycelium and inoculated at the centre of the 65 mm CMA plates supplemented with 0.05% (v/v) formic acid and *Pbr*1692 OMVs for the test, or PBS buffer as the negative control. The plates were incubated at 25 °C for 7 days, and the mycelium diameter was measured. This experiment was performed in triplicates.

2.1.13 *Phytophthora parasitica* zoospore germination and viability in carbon source in the presence of *Pbr*1692 OMVs

Germination of the zoospores was performed on micro slides similar to the protocol described by Regente *et al.* (2017), with slight changes. *Phytophthora parasitica* was grown on V8 agar media for 7 days, and 10% (w/v) soil water was prepared and poured on the *P. parasitica* INRA 310 mycelial plates and incubated for 48 hrs under light to induce sporangia. To induce *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores, soil water was poured out and replaced with 4 °C cold water; thereafter, incubated for 1 to 3 hrs at room temperature. An aliquot of 10 µl of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores (~1500 zoospores), 0.05 (v/v) formic acid, and *Pbr*1692 OMVs (6 mg/ml), all to the final volume of 20 µl were added on micro slides. The micro slides were placed in a tightly sealed container and incubated at 25 °C for 16 hrs, and PBS buffer was used as the negative control. The germination of the *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores was evaluated using a brightfield microscope. To further test the viability of the germinated zoospores, the slides were stained with propidium iodide (50 µg/ml). Zeiss Fluorescence and brightfield microscopes were used to evaluate the viability of the germinated zoospores. The experiment was performed in triplicates.

2.2 Appendices

2.2.1 Appendix A

Table 2. 1: Procedure for inoculation into phenotypic microarrays.

Preparation of glucose stock solution			
Ingredients	Concentration (mM)	Grams/100 ml	Concentration factor
D-glucose	3200	57.664	32x
Preparation of PM21 additive solution			
Yeast nitrogen base	-	8.04	12x
PM inoculating fluids from stock solutions			
PM stock solution		PM1 (ml)	PM21(ml)
FF-IF		20.00	60.00
Redox dye		2.00	12.00
D-glucose (32x)		-	4.50
PM additive (12x)		-	12.00
Zoospores		0.05	0.1
Pbr1692 OMVs		0.1	0.2
Sterile water		1.85	54.60
Total		24.00	144.00

2.3 References

- Chen P, Chen R & Chou J (2018) Screening and evaluation of yeast antagonists for biological control of *Botrytis cinerea* on strawberry fruits. *Mycobiology* **46**: 33-46.
- Khayi S, Cigna J, Chong T, Quêtu-Laurent A, Chan K, Hélias V & Faure D (2016) Transfer of the potato plant isolates of *Pectobacterium wasabiae* to *Pectobacterium parmentieri* sp. nov. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 16: 5379-5383.
- Maphosa S & Moleleki L (2021) Isolation and characterization of outer membrane vesicles of *Pectobacterium brasiliense 1692. Microorganisms* **9**: 1918.
- Meers P, Liu C, Chen R, Bartos W, Davis J, Dziedzic N, Orciuolo J, Kutyla S, Pozo M, Mithrananda D, Panzera D & Wang S (2018) Vesicular delivery of the antifungal antibiotics of *Lysobacter enzymogenes C3*. *American Society of Microbiology* 84: e01353-01318.
- Panda P, Fiers M, Lu A, Armstrong K & Pitman A (2015) Draft genome sequences of three *Pectobacterium* strains causing blackleg of potato: *P. carotovorum subsp. brasiliensis* ICMP 19477, *P. atrosepticum* ICMP 1526, and P. carotovorum subsp. carotovorum UGC32. *Genomic Announcement* 3: e00874-00815.
- Regente M, Pinedo M, San Clemente H, Balliau T, Jamet E & de la Canal L (2017) Plant extracellular vesicles are incorporated by a fungal pathogen and inhibit its growth. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **68**: 5485-5496.
- Samson R, Legendre J, Christen R, Saux MF, Achouak W & Gardan L (2005) Transfer of *Pectobacterium chrysanthemi* (Burkholder et al. 1953) Brenner *et al.* 1973 and *Brenneria paradisiaca* to the genus *Dickeya* gen. nov. as *Dickeya chrysanthemi* comb. nov. and *Dickeya paradisiaca* comb. nov. and delineation of four novel species, *Dickeya dadantii* sp. nov., *Dickeya dianthicola* sp. nov., *Dickeya dieffenbachiae* sp. nov. and *Dickeya zeae* sp. nov. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 55: 1415-1427.
- Shyntum D, Nkomo N, Shingange N, Gricia A, Bellieny-RD & Moleleki L (2019) The impact of type VI secretion system, bacteriocins and antibiotics on bacterial competition of *Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. brasiliense* and the regulation of carbapenem biosynthesis by iron and the ferric-uptake regulator. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **10**: 2379.
- Wang Y, Hoffmann J, Chou CW, Höner Zu Bentrup K, Fuselier J, Bitoun J, Wimley W & Morici L (2020) *Burkholderia thailandensis* outer membrane vesicles exert antimicrobial activity against drug-resistant and competitor microbial species. *Journal of Microbiology* 58: 550-567.

The physiological effects of *Pectobacterium brasiliense* 1692 outer membrane vesicles on soft rot *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Phytophthora parasitica*

Chapter three

3.1 Results

3.1.1 Production of OMVs by *Pectobacterium brasiliense* 1692

Outer membrane vesicles are reported to take part in the secretion of virulence factors and molecules involved in cellular communication, biofilm formation, and pathogenesis (Yonezawa et al., 2009). Therefore, this study explored the possibility that Pbr1692 uses OMVs to secrete and transport molecules used in microbial communities. Towards this end, OMVs were isolated and purified from the stationary phase of the Pbr1692 culture. Their size and morphology were screened through TEM analysis. The thin-section electron micrograph revealed that Pbr1692 produces OMVs derived from the outer membrane (Fig 3.1a), as previously reported (Maphosa and Moleleki, 2020). Based on the TEM analysis conducted in this study, the OMVs produced by Pbr1692 were shown to vary in size from approximately 35 to 100 nm in diameter, and they mostly showed a spherical appearance enclosed in a single membrane (Fig 3.1b). After ultracentrifugation, the pellet was resuspended in PBS buffer and filtered with PVDF 0.22 µm to filter and trap contaminants. The TEM micrographs confirmed the purity of the OMVs through the absence of flagella material. The purified OMVs were further plated on LB agar and incubated for 24 hrs to determine whether there were no residual bacterial cells. There was no bacterial growth (results not shown) on the agar plate, indicating no residual cells that contaminated the OMVs sample. The SDS page was performed to confirm the isolated OMVs through the protein patterns of the membrane of OMVs. The three independent isolation of OMVs showed a consistency in the band pattern of the proteins that form part of the outer membrane of the OMVs, demonstrating the reproducibility of the isolated OMVs. The proteins have sizes between 25 kDa and 100 kDa (Fig 3.1c).



Figure 3. 1: Isolation of OMVs from *Pbr*1692 at the stationary phase. (**a**) Thin section micrographs depicting OMVs bulging from the *Pbr*1692 cell membrane. (**b**) Transmission electron micrographs of OMVs isolated from *Pbr*1692 negatively stained with 1% uranyl acetate. (**c**) SDS page gel of three independent OMV isolations confirming the reproducibility of the isolated OMVs.

3.1.2 The effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on soft rot *Enterobacteriaceae*

Microbes are involved in constant inter and intraspecies interactions that maintain microbial communities, including competition and cooperation (Peleg et al., 2010). Pbr1692 shares a niche with various bacteria and other microbes within the host potato plants (Shyntum et al., 2019, Motyka-Pomagruk et al., 2021); these microorganisms likely compete for available nutrients to survive. Previously, it was reported that Pbr1692 outcompetes multiple SREs, including D. dadantii, P. atrosepticum, and P. carotovorum (Marquez-Villavicencio et al., 2011, Shyntum et al., 2019). To investigate whether Pbr1692 OMVs play a role in these interactions, we screened for any effects, whether negative or positive, that OMVs could have on selected SREs. Shyntum et al. (2019) showed that Pbr1692 cells did not inhibit P. . parmentieri. However, we included it as part of the study to investigate whether Pbr1692 OMVs (instead of cells) could affect the bacterium. We used a co-culture method, where Pbr1692 OMVs of 7 mg/ml were co-inoculated with the gentamicin-transformed SREs. Subsequently, serial dilutions were conducted, and the bacterial cells were plated on gentamicin-supplemented LB agar. The statistical analysis showed a significant reduction in CFU/ml of *D. dadantii* when co-cultured with *Pbr*1692 OMVs (P < 0.05), suggesting that an antimicrobial effect was enacted (Fig 3.2). In contrast, there was no inhibition for P. atrosepticum, P. carotovorum, and P. parmentieri (Fig 3.2 b), suggesting that Pbr1692 OMVs have antimicrobial activity against *D. dadantii* only. This is consistent with proteomic analysis from Maphosa & Moleleki (2021), showing that *Pbr*1692 OMVs may have proteins associated with inhibition.





Figure 3. 2: The effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on SREs. (**a**) Gentamicin-resistant targetted bacteria *D. dadantii*, *P. atrosepticum*, *P. carotovorum*, and *P. parmentieri* were treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs (**b**) The quantification of the targetted and treated bacteria presented as log10 CFU/ml. The asterisk shows a statistical significance where P < 0.05 compared to the PBS buffer negative control using the t-test.

3.1.3 Pbr1692 cells do not inhibit the growth of P. parasitica INRA 310 In figure 2.2., we observed that Pbr1692 OMVs inhibited the growth of D. dadantii, which means that Pbr1692 OMVs may harbour antimicrobial compounds. Pbr1692 and P. parasitica INRA 310 are soilborne pathogens that both infect potato tubers and may interact in the fields (Grisham et al., 1983, van der Merwe et al., 2010, Taylor et al., 2012, Taylor et al., 2014). Therefore, we next explored the possibility that Pbr1692 OMVs could have antimicrobial activity against oomycetes that infect potatoes. Hence, to investigate whether there is competition between Pbr1692 and P. parasitica INRA 310, we performed an in vitro dual culture assay where P. parasitica INRA 310 mycelium plugs were placed 2 cm away from Pbr1692 inoculation. Both P. parasitica INRA 310 and Pbr1692 could grow with no inhibition observed (Fig 3.3a). Furthermore, we measured the P. parasitica INRA 310 mycelial growth radius from the point of inoculation to detect and quantify possible inhibition. We found that the mean radius of the P. parasitica INRA 310 mycelium co-cultured with Pbr1692 was 3.5 cm compared to the mean radius of the mycelium of the negative control, which was 3.45 cm (Fig 3.3b). Hence, using the *P*-value where P > 0.05, concluding that there is no significant difference in the mycelium radius between the dual cultured of Pbr1692 and P. parasitica INRA 310 compared to the negative control.



Figure 3. 3: Antagonism assay of (**a**) *Pbr*1692 cultured with *P. parasitica* INRA 310 mycelia and (**b**) ddH2O as the negative control on CMA. (**c**) Comparison of the length of the radius of the mycelium growth from the point of inoculation for both the test and the negative control. The error bars represent the standard deviations from the data, and asterisks denote a statistical significance at P < 0.05, where the absence of an asterisk shows insignificance.

Since we did not observe any inhibition of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 mycelia *by Pbr*1692 cells, we tested whether *Pbr*1692 cells can inhibit *P. parasitica* zoospores. A zoospore germination test was performed to investigate the effect of *Pbr*1692 on *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores germination. The zoospores were incubated overnight with *Pbr*1692 cells and glucose and submitted for microscopic observations. **Fig 3.4a** shows the germination of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 cells, similar to the negative control where germination was observed (**Fig 3.4b**).



Figure 3. 4: Zoospore germination test. *Phytophthora parasitica* INRA 310 zoospore with *Pbr*1692 cells (**a**, **c**) and water is the negative control (**b**, **d**) image obtained using a brightfield microscope 40x objective (**a**, **b**) and a scanning electron microscope (**c**, **d**).

A scanning electron microscope was employed to evaluate if there are morphological effects that *Pbr*1692 cells could have on the zoospores. The SEM micrographs show that *Pbr*1692 cell-treated *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores were able to germinate similarly to the negative control (**Fig 3.4c, d**), and no morphological deformities were observed. The zoospores were motile for the first two hrs, maintaining the same pace as the negative control in ddH₂O; however, after 2 hrs 30 mins, the zoospores were treated with *Pbr*1692 cells slowed down as shown on the links (**Sup Fig 3.13a**). Based on the results, it was concluded that *Pbr*1692 cells have no antimicrobial activity against *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores. However, these cells may affect the motility of the zoospores.

3.1.4 *Pbr*1692 OMVs do not inhibit the growth of *Phytophthora parasitica* We previously demonstrated that *Pbr*1692 cells do not exhibit inhibition against *P. parasitica* INRA *310* (**Fig 3.3**). As vesicles often reflect the biology of their donor cells, we, therefore, argued that *Pbr*1692 OMVs might also lack antimicrobial activity against *P. parasitica* isolates. We employed a mycelium targetted assay to test this hypothesis where a mycelium plug was grown on a CMA plate for three days. The sterile filter papers were inoculated with the variables and incubated for two additional days, and the results were observed. Both the two independent batches of *Pbr*1692 OMVs at 3 mg/ml and 5 mg/ml did not inhibit the mycelial growth of all the *P. parasitica* isolates, and these results were similar to that of the negative control PBS buffer (**Fig 3.5**).



Figure 3. 5: Mycelium targetted assay investigating the non-inhibitory activity of OMVs on the isolates of *P. parasitica* mycelium at two different concentrations, inoculated with *Pbr*1692 cells and PBS buffer as the negative control. (**a**) *P. parasitica* INRA 310, (**b**) *P. parasitica* 149, and (**c**) *P. parasitica* 329.

We also tested the non-inhibitory effects of *Pbr*1962 OMVs on *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospore germination, given that zoospores play a huge role in disease initiation and development (Meng *et al.*, 2014). To this end, we first determined whether zoospores could internalise exogenously applied OMVs as a function of *trans*-kingdom communication. OMVs were labelled with a lipophilic dye, FM4-64, which selectively stains the vacuole membrane of the OMVs red and shows red fluorescence for OMVs uptake. Subsequently incubating the zoospores with glucose and the labelled OMVs. The germinated zoospores showed red fluorescence during confocal microscopy, suggesting that *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospore can internalise the FM4-64 stained *Pbr*1692 OMVs (**Fig 3.6a, b**). In contrast, the negative control showed no fluorescence (**Fig 3.6d**, showed no fluorescence. Therefore, *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores can take up *Pbr*1692 OMVs, and germination was also recorded. This result suggests that, although there is OMV-mediated *trans*-kingdom interaction between the pair, it bears no visible inhibitory effect on the recipient cells of *P. parasitica*, and whatever effect is present, it cannot be detected by this assay.



Figure 3. 6: OMVs uptake test. (**a**, **b**) FM4-64 labelled OMVs with *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores. (**c**, **d**) the negative control with PBS buffer. (**a**, **c**) micrographs obtained with a fluorescent microscope, (**b**) a confocal microscope image of the *Pbr*1692 OMV uptake by *P. parasitica* zoospores (**d**) the micrographs were generated with a brightfield microscope using a 40x objective.

Next, the zoospores were incubated overnight with OMVs and glucose and then submitted for microscopic observations. **Fig 3.7a** shows the germination of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores in the treatment of OMVs, similar to the negative control in PBS buffer (**Fig 3.7b**). To evaluate the morphological effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on the zoospores, we used SEM, which showed that *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores could germinate with no deformities in both *Pbr*1692 cells and the negative control (**Fig 3.7c, d**). Furthermore, the zoospores treated with OMVs maintained the same pace of motility as the negative control in the PBS buffer (**Sup Fig 3.13b**).



Figure 3. 7: Zoospores germination test. *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with OMVs (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{c}) and the negative control with PBS buffer (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}). The micrographs were generated using a brightfield microscope 40x objective (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b}) and a scanning electron microscope (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}).

To further ascertain the non-inhibitory effects of *Pbr1962* OMVs on the growth of *P. parasitica* INRA 310, an inhibition test was performed to investigate whether the germinated hyphae were viable. *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores with glucose and OMVs were incubated overnight. Subsequently, the germinated zoospores were stained with Evans blue, which targets membrane damage and stains the cytoplasm and the nucleus blue. The hypha did not stain blue (**Fig 3.8a**), suggesting no membrane damage to the zoospores treated with OMVs, similar to the negative control (**Fig 3.8d**). Another approach was employed to assess the membrane permeabilisation of the zoospores when treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs. In this case, the

zoospores with a compromised membrane are expected to take up the red propidium iodide. The zoospores treated with OMVs and the negative control with PBS buffer did not exhibit any fluorescence (**Fig 3.8b, c**), confirming that the *P. parasitica* germinated zoospores were viable when treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs. These results show that *Pbr*1692 OMVs do not cause *P. parasitica* cell death, even though they can be internalised showing *trans*-kingdom communication (**Fig 3.6**).



Figure 3. 8: Zoospore viability test. *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores were incubated for 16 hrs with OMVs (**a**, **b**, **c**) or PBS buffer as the negative control (**d**, **e**, **f**) were stained with Evan's blue (**a**, **d**) or propidium iodide (**b**, **c**, **e**, **f**). The micrographs were obtained with a fluorescent (**c**, **d**) or brightfield microscope 20x objective (**a**, **d**, **e**, **f**).

- 3.1.5 Phenotypic Microarray preliminary results
- 3.1.5.1 Pectobacterium brasiliense 1692 OMVs assist Phytophthora parasitica INRA
 310 zoospores in utilising some carbon sources.

As previously reported (Fig 3.6), P. parasitica INRA 310 zoospores could internalise Pbr1692 OMVs, suggesting interkingdom interaction between P. parasitica INRA 310 and Pbr1692. We then questioned what effect Pbr1692 OMVs had on P. parasitica INRA 310 if they did not suppress its growth, given that uptake of these OMVs resulted in non-inhibitory effects (Fig. 3.5-3.8). Several studies have shown that bacterial OMVs are involved in interspecies and intraspecies interactions (Wang et al., 2020) through potential antimicrobial compounds contained in their lumen. It is, therefore, likely that OMVs can also release compounds that mediate other forms of interactions, thus serving as 'public goods' for the coexistence of various bacterial species in the same habitat (Elhenawy et al., 2014). For instance, OMVs can help bacterial communities by disseminating enzymes, at a cost to the producer, that break down extracellular material into nutrients, recruiting iron, functioning as bacteriophage or antibiotic decoys, and transferring beneficial DNA material between the OMV donor and bystander cells (Schwechheimer & Kuehn, 2015). Therefore, it is possible that, instead of inhibiting growth, the Pbr1962 OMVs could benefit P. parasitica INRA 310. As we could not detect any growth-inhibiting effects with several assays that we performed between Pbr1962 OMVs and *P. parasitica* INRA 310, we argued that any effects resulting from this interaction could be detected through a more sensitive assay. For this reason, we turned our attention to the metabolic activity of the zoospores measured using an OmniLog phenotypic microarray platform provided by Biolog.

During this study, we investigated the ability of zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs (referred to as treated zoospores) to utilise various carbon sources provided by Biolog. These were compared to the negative control zoospores that were not treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs (referred to as untreated zoospores). We separately added the treated and untreated zoospores into the inoculating fluid, aliquoted them into the 96 well microplates containing carbon sources at unknown concentrations, as per the manufacturer's recommended instructions, and incubated the microplates for 48 hrs. Results were then recorded every 15 mins using an Omnilog plate reader.

After 48 hrs of incubation, Biolog software was employed to construct a parametric graph that compares the carbon utilisation and the growth of the treated and untreated zoospores, of which

the green and red represent treated and untreated zoospores, respectively, and yellow is the overlap of the treated and untreated zoospores. The results showed that treated and untreated zoospores utilised 85 similar carbon sources out of 95 wells. Based on the Biolog system, these carbon sources belong to the carbohydrates, carboxylic, amino acids, and alcoholic groups (**Fig 3.9**). Only three carbon sources were utilised by neither treated nor untreated zoospores; interestingly, seven carbon sources, namely, D-glucosamic acid, formic acid, thymidine, acetoacetic acid, N-acetyl-D-mannosamine, m-Hydroxyphenylacetic acid, and glucoromide were used by treated zoospores only (**Fig 3.9b**). These carbon sources belong to the carbohydrates, carboxylic, and amide groups. The results suggest that OMVs may aid *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospore in assimilating specific carbon sources. Based on the KEGG database, the carbon sources that were utilised and showed growth of treated zoospores only were indicated to be involved in various metabolic pathways, including the metabolism in diverse environments, biosynthesis of secondary metabolites, and metabolism of amino acids (**Table 3.1**). In addition, some of the carbon sources participate in pyruvate metabolism and the two-component systems.

Of the 85 carbon sources that were utilised by both treated and untreated zoospores, some carbon sources showed enhanced growth in the treated zoospores compared to the untreated. Therefore, to determine the carbon sources that showed improved carbon utilisation, we calculated the omnilog unit difference between the treated and the untreated zoospores of each corresponding well using the cut-off value of 10 Ou. About 31 carbon sources showed improved growth in the treated zoospores, showing a cut-off of 10 Ou and above (**Table 3.2**). Furthermore, using the KEGG database, the carbon sources were predicted to be involved in various metabolic pathways that may assist in the metabolic reactions in *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores indicated in **Table 3.2**. From the results, the *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs could utilise specific carbon sources that the untreated zoospores were unable to utilise, and the treated zoospores further showed enhanced growth in some carbon sources compared to the untreated zoospores.



Figure 3. 9: PM comparing the carbon utilisation ability of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs to those not treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs for 48 hrs incubation. The colours green and red show the utilisation of the carbon sources by treated and untreated zoospores, respectively, and yellow is the overlap of both treated and untreated zoospores (**a**). The Venn diagram shows the carbon sources utilised by either treated or untreated *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores, treated and untreated (**b**).

Carbon sources	Pathways in which the carbon sources engage in		
Thymidine	Metabolic pathways		
D-Glucosaminic acid	Microbial metabolism in diverse environments		
Formic acid	Pyruvate metabolism, microbial metabolism in diverse		
	environments, and carbon metabolism		
Aceto-acetic acid	Microbial metabolism in diverse environments, and two-		
	component system		
N-acetyl-D-mannose	Amino sugar and nucleotide sugar metabolism		
	Ascorbate and aldarate metabolism, amino sugar and nucleotide		
Glucuronamide	sugar metabolism, Inositol phosphate metabolism, biosynthesis		
	of cofactors, and nucleotide sugars		
m-Hydroxyphenyl acetic acid	Microbial metabolism in diverse environments, and tyrosine		
	metabolism		

Table 3. 1: The metabolic pathways of the seven carbon sources that *P. parasitica* INRA 310zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs utilised using the KEGG database.

Table 3. 2: The list of carbon sources showed the most growth and metabolism of zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs compared to the untreated by calculating the difference between the treated and untreated zoospores using the cut-off of 10 Ou and the predicted metabolic pathways they participate in using KEGG database.

Carbon source	Cut-off	Pathways involved	
Carbon source	value (OM)	r attiways involveu	
	10	Citrate cycle (TCA cycle), oxidative	
		phosphorylation, alanine, aspartate,	
		glutamate metabolism, pyruvate metabolism,	
Succinic acid		glucagon signalling pathway, biosynthesis of	
		secondary metabolites, microbial activity	
		metabolism in diverse environments, and	
		carbon metabolism.	
	10	Metabolism of fructose, mannose, galactose	
D-Sorbitol		metabolism, ABC transporters, and	
		phosphotransferase system (PTS).	
	17	Pentose phosphate pathway, biosynthesis of	
Clussrie said		secondary metabolites, microbial metabolism	
Gluconic acid		in diverse environments, and carbon	
		metabolism.	
	10	ABC transporter, two-component system,	
		biosynthesis of secondary metabolites,	
L-Glutamic acid		microbial metabolism in diverse	
		environments, Neomycin, kanamycin, and	
		gentamicin biosynthesis.	
D Ribere	18	Pentose phosphate pathway and ABC	
D-KIUOSC		transporters	
Maltose	10	Starch and sucrose metabolism, biosynthesis	
		of secondary metabolites, ABC transporters,	
		and phosphotransferase system	
L-Asparagine	28	Biosynthesis of secondary metabolites and	
L-Asparagine		amino acids, protein digestion and	

		absorption, mineral absorption, alanine,	
		aspartate, and glutamate metabolism	
		Starch and sucrose metabolism, biosynthesis	
Sucrose	10	of secondary metabolites, ABC transporters,	
		and phosphotransferase system (PTS)	
Uridine	11	ABC transporters	
m-tartaric acid	14	Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	
	16	ABC transporters, carbohydrate digestion	
Maltotriose		and absorption, glyoxylate and dicarboxylate	
		metabolism	
		Glycine and aspartate metabolism, alanine,	
Gly-Asp	12	aspartate and glutamate metabolism, glycine,	
		serine, and threonine metabolism	
	19	Citrate cycle (TCA cycle), oxidative	
		phosphorylation, alanine, aspartate, and	
		glutamate metabolism, nicotinate and	
		nicotinamide metabolism, metabolic	
Fumaric acid		pathways, biosynthesis of secondary	
		metabolites, microbial metabolism in diverse	
		environments, carbon metabolism, two-	
		component system, and glucagon signalling	
		pathway	
Bromosuccinic acid	19	Citric cycle	
Mucic acid	20	Ascorbate and aldarate metabolism	
Inosino	40	Purine metabolism, nucleotide metabolism,	
mosnie	40	and ABC transporters	
Chu Chu	17	Amino acid metabolism and glyoxylate	
Oly-Olu		metabolism	
Tricarboxylic acid	17	Citric cycle (TCA cycle)	
	21	Biosynthesis of various other secondary	
I. Sorino		metabolites, microbial metabolism in diverse	
L-Serine		environments, carbon metabolism, ABC	
		transporter, mineral absorption, glycine,	

		serine and threonine metabolism, cysteine,
		and methionine metabolism
T Thursday	14	Glycolysis / Gluconeogenesis and citrate
L-Ihreonine		cycle (TCA cycle)
	24	Alanine, aspartate and glutamate
		metabolism, cysteine and methionine
		metabolism, ABC transporter, biosynthesis
L-Alanine		of various other secondary metabolites and
		amino acids, metabolic pathways, microbial
		metabolism in diverse environments, and
		carbon metabolism
	16	Glycolysis / Gluconeogenesis, citrate cycle
		(TCA cycle), phosphotransferase, metabolic
Methylpuruvate		pathways, biosynthesis of secondary
		metabolites, microbial metabolism in diverse
		environments, and carbon metabolism
	12	Biosynthesis of secondary metabolites,
		microbial metabolism in diverse
I -Malic acid		environments, carbon metabolism, two-
		component system, citrate cycle (TCA cycle),
		pyruvate, glyoxylate, and dicarboxylate
		metabolism
Gly-Pro	15	Glycine, serine, threonine, and proline
		metabolism
D-Hydroxyphenyl acetic acid	30	Tyrosine metabolism, phenylalanine
		metabolism, and microbial metabolism in
		diverse environments
Tyramine	11	Tyrosine metabolism, and microbial
		metabolism in diverse environments
L-Lyxose	28	Pentose and glucuronate interconversions
	15	Glycolysis / Gluconeogenesis, citrate cycle
Pyruvic acid		(TCA cycle), pentose phosphate pathway,
		alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism,

		glycine, serine and threonine metabolism,	
		phosphotransferase, biosynthesis of	
		secondary metabolites, microbial metabolism	
		in diverse environments, and carbon	
		metabolism	
L-Galactonic acid-g-Lactose	26	Ascorbate and aldarate metabolism,	
		metabolic pathways, biosynthesis of	
		secondary metabolites and cofactors	
D-Galacturonic acid	14	Pectin degradation and	
Phenylethylamine	10	Metabolism of amino acids	

3.1.5.2 *Pbr*1692 OMVs affect the chemical sensitivity of *Phytophthora parasitica* INRA 310

A PM21 microplate was used to investigate the effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on the chemical sensitivity of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores. The PM21 microplates contain various chemicals such as antimicrobials, efflux pump inhibitors, detergents, chelators, chaotropic agents, biofilm inhibitors, and phosphodiesterase inhibitors. Four consecutive wells on the PM21 microplate contain the same chemical at different unknown concentrations. The parametric graph shows the quantification of the metabolism of zoospores in the `presence of different chemicals (**Fig 3.10**), where increased sensitivity to the chemical will decrease the metabolic rate of the zoospores, and a decrease in sensitivity will allow the metabolism and growth of the zoospores.

The experiment had no replicates, and because of that, wells with consistent increase or decrease in the omnilog units across the four wells of the same chemical were selected to analyse the effect of the OMVs on zoospores' metabolism. The chemicals nystatin, sodium dichromate, and D-cycloserine showed increased metabolic growth with increased chemical concentration for both the treated and the untreated zoospores, indicated by an increase in the steepness of the yellow graph (**Table 3.3**). However, the treated zoospores showed the most metabolism in the early hours of incubation in D-cycloserine and at the highest concentration of sodium dichromate. In contrast, the untreated zoospores showed increased metabolic activity in nystatin compared to the treated. The thiourea, nickel chlorate, sodium selenite, and 1-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione wells showed a decrease in the metabolism and growth of both the treated and untreated zoospores (**Table 3.3**). However, increased metabolic activity was observed for the treated zoospore during the early hours of incubation in 1-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione wells showed a decrease.


Figure 3. 10: A parametric graph compares the chemical sensitivity of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs to zoospores that are untreated at 48 hrs. The concentration of the chemicals increases from left to right. Green and red show the utilisation of the carbon sources by the treated and untreated zoospores, respectively, and yellow is the overlap of both the treated and untreated zoospores.

Table 3. 3: Chemicals that elicited a decrease or increase in metabolism and growth of the *P*. *parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs with an increase in the concentration of the chemical.

Wells	Chemical	Function	Metabolism: Based on the increase in the	
			concentration of the chemicals	
			Treated and	The one performing
			untreated zoospores	better
B1-B4	Nystatin	Increase	Increase	Untreated
		permeability		
D1-D4	1-	Antifungal/inhibit biofilm formation		Treated in the early
	Hydroxypyridine		Decrease	hours of incubation
	-2-thione			nours of meubation
D9-	Sodium	Toxin anion	Increase	Treated at the highest
D12	dichromate			concentration
F9-		TT - 11 11	ll Increase	Treated at the early
F12	D-cycloserine	largets cell wall		hours of incubation
G1-G4	Sodium selenite	Toxin cation	Decrease	Treated
G5-G8	Nickel chlorite	Toxin cation	Decrease	Treated in the early
				hours of incubation
Н5-Н8	Thiourea	Chaotropic agent	Decrease	Treated

- 3.1.6 Validation of the phenotypic microarray results
- 3.1.6.1 *Pbr*1692 OMVs assist *Phytophthora parasitica* INRA 310 with the utilisation of formic acid

The PM results showed that Pbr1692 OMVs might assist P. parasitica INRA 310 zoospores in the utilisation of certain carbon sources. For instance, P. parasitica INRA 310 zoospores could not completely utilise D-glucosamic acid, formic acid, thymidine, acetoacetic acid, Nacetyl-D-mannosamine, m-Hydroxyphenylacetic acid, and glucoromide. However, when treated with OMVs, utilisation was recorded. Formic acid was selected to confirm the PM results using P. parasitica INRA 310 mycelium and zoospore germination and viability. Depending on the concentration, formic acid has been shown to induce growth inhibition and cell death in various fungi (Clevström et al., 1989, Lastauskienė et al., 2014), for this reason, it was prioritised for testing. P. parasitica INRA 310 mycelium was grown on CMA supplemented with formic acid (0.05%) and Pbr1692 OMVs. The results showed that in the presence of Pbr1692 OMVs, P. parasitica INRA 310 mycelium grows significantly well in formic acid compared to the negative control (Fig 3.11). The statistical analysis showed a significant (p < 0.05) mycelium growth (measured diameter in cm) in the presence of *Pbr*1692 OMVs compared to the negative control (Fig 3.11c). These results suggest that in the media supplemented with formic acid, Pbr1692 OMVs enhance P. parasitica INRA 310 mycelium growth.





Figure 3. 11: The effect of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on *P. parasitica* INRA 310 carbon utilisation. (**a**) *P. parasitica* INRA 310 mycelium grown on CMA supplemented with formic acid and *Pbr*1692. (**b**) Mycelium grown on CMA supplemented with formic acid and PBS buffer as the negative control. (**c**)The error bars represent the standard deviations from the data, and the asterisk shows a statistical significance where P < 0.05 compared to the PBS buffer negative control using the t-test.

3.1.6.2 *Phytophthora parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores germination and viability in formic acid carbon source in the presence of *Pbr*1692 OMVs

To test whether *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs would germinate in a formic acid carbon source, we inoculated the zoospores with formic acid and *Pbr*1692 OMVs followed by incubation for 16 hrs. Our results revealed that the zoospores were able to germinate. However, there was an accumulation of particles around the hyphae (**Fig 3.12 a, b**). Therefore, we performed a viability test by staining the micro slides with propidium iodide. Results showed that the hyphae treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs did not exhibit fluorescence (**Fig 3.12 c**), while the negative control showed fluorescence (**Fig 3.12 d**), suggesting that the germinated zoospores were viable. **Figure 3.12 e, f** represents the bright field micrographs of **Fig 3.12 c, d**, respectively, which are the specimens of the fluorescence micrographs. These results show that *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores could germinate in both the test and the negative control. However, only the germinated zoospores are viable in *Pbr*1692 OMVs compared to the negative control PBS buffer, indicating that *Pbr*1692 OMVs may assist *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores in formic acid utilisation.



Figure 3. 12: Zoospore germination and viability test in formic acid. *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores incubated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs (**a**) and the negative control with PBS buffer (**b**). Zoospores and *Pbr*1692 OMVs (**c**) and the negative control with PBS buffer (**d**), both stained with propidium iodide. (**e**,**f**) brightfield micrographs of (**c**,**d**) showing the specimen. The micrographs were obtained with brightfield and fluorescence microscopes, all at 40x objective.

3.2 Discussion and conclusions

The role of Pbr1692 OMVs in soft rot Enterobacteriaceae competitions

Outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) harbour proteins, such as hydrolases and chitinases that have shown antimicrobial activity against microorganisms, and this suggests that OMVs may play an essential role in the competition and survival of the parental bacteria (Kadurugamuwa & Beveridge, 1996, Meers *et al.*, 2018, Wang *et al.*, 2020, Maphosa & Moleleki, 2021). *Pbr*1692 is an important potato pathogen that relies on different bacterial secretion systems for access to nutrients and pathogenesis (Pérombelon, 2002, Shyntum *et al.*, 2019). *Pbr*1692 causes blackleg and soft rot of potatoes in the field; however, it can also be transmitted during storage. SREs including *Pbr*1692, *P. atrosepticum*, *P. carotovorum*, *Dickeya* spp., and *P. parmentieri* were isolated from the same diseased potato tubers in South Africa (Shyntum *et al.*, 2019), showing that SREs co-infect of potato tubers promoting multiple interactions amongst the SREs (Shyntum *et al.*, 2019, Motyka-Pomagruk *et al.*, 2021). Furthermore, Shyntum *et al.* (2019) showed that *Pbr*1692 secretes bacteriocins and antibiotics such as carbapenem and employs the T6SS to inhibit and outcompete micro-organisms in their niche. Another mechanism reported to take part in microbial interactions is OMVs, through the secretion and transport of crucial proteins that may aid the survival of bacteria (Kulp & Kuehn, 2010).

Pectobacterium spp., including *Pbr*1692, were reported and confirmed to produce OMVs through microscopic studies, nanoparticle tracking analysis and proteomic studies (Piotrowska *et al.*, 2020, Jonca *et al.*, 2021, Maphosa & Moleleki, 2021). Therefore, this study investigated the interactive physiological effects, whether antimicrobial or beneficial, of *Pbr*1692 cells and OMVs against some SREs, namely, *D. dadantii*, *P. atrosepticum*, *P. carotovorum*, *P. parmentieri*, and the oomycetes plant-pathogen *P. parasitica* INRA 310, and this is because *Pbr*1692 interacts these pathogens on potato and has been reported to also outcompete some of them (Marquez-Villavicencio *et al.*, 2011, Shyntum *et al.*, 2019).

We looked into OMVs as a possible mechanism *Pbr*1692 utilised in the competition (**Fig 3.2**). The results showed that *Pbr*1692 OMVs have antimicrobial activity against *D. dadantii*, which was also supported by Maphosa & Moleleki (2021). Furthermore, *Pbr*1692 OMVs proteomic analysis revealed that OMVs harbour proteins such as hydrolases, Cdi toxins, lyases, and peptidoglycan murein, which are suspected to be involved in microbial interactions and in inhibiting bacteria (Maphosa & Moleleki, 2021). It is supposed that bacteria may use OMVs to destroy their co-infector to reduce competition over nutrients (Li et al., 1998), and this was

further supported by a study that showed that *Lysobacter* sp. secrete endopeptidase L5, which is a bacteriolytic enzyme that degrades competitors by targeting the peptidoglycan (Vasilyeva *et al.*, 2008, Jan, 2017).

*Pbr*1692 OMVs did not show inhibitory effects on *P. atrosepticum* and *P. carotovorum* (**Fig 3.2**). Similarly, *Pbr*1692 OMVs do not inhibit the growth of *P. parmentieri* (**Fig 3.2**). These results also suggest that the mechanism *Pbr*1692 cells employ in the inhibition cannot exist independently in OMVs out of the *Pbr*1692 cells.

Notably, the study was conducted *in vitro*, and OMVs were not isolated from *Pbr*1692 cells that were introduced with either SREs or isolated from the natural environment before the isolation. Therefore, it is plausible that the OMVs produced were not specifically to target these species of interest. Furthermore, OMVs concentration is essential to exhibiting a killing ability (Li *et al.*, 1998), and we cannot eliminate the possibility that the concentration of the *Pbr*1692 OMVs used against SREs might have been inadequate to exhibit antimicrobial activity.

The role played by *Pbr*1692 OMVs in interkingdom interactions

Since *Pbr*1692 OMVs did not inhibit some SRES, we further investigated the role of *Pbr*1692 OMVs on another group of potato pathogens, namely the oomycetes. Studies have shown that bacteria can inhibit oomycetes germination (van Dijk & Nelson, 2000). Phytophthora parasitica INRA 310 and Pbr1692 are both soilborne pathogens and have shown occurrence as potato pathogens; therefore, we first tried to establish whether there is a competitive interaction between the two pathogens. The results showed that Pbr1692 and P. parasitica INRA 310 could grow together on a CMA plate (Fig 3.3). Furthermore, Pbr1692 does not inhibit the INRA 310 germination of P. parasitica INRA 310 zoospores (Fig 3.4). Interestingly, a slowed motility was observed when P. parasitica INRA 310 zoospores and Pbr1692 cells were co-inoculated (Sup Fig 3.13a). In microbial communities, some bacteria produce signalling molecules that balance the zoospore gradient, thus promoting pathogen infection (van Dijk & Nelson, 2000, Joint et al., 2002), which could have influenced the pattern of the motility observed. Oomycetes produce and utilise various molecules to mediate zoospores aggregation and plant infection. Furthermore, it is reported that bacteria promote *Phytophthora* plant infection by enhancing some stages of the Phytophthora infection cycle (Kong & Hong, 2016).

Bacterial OMVs have antimicrobial activities on interspecies, including eukaryotes (Wang et al., 2020). However, to this date, most of the studies have focused more on bacterial OMVs

carrying antimicrobial agents that target bacteria compared to bacterial OMVs on other species, such as fungi and oomycetes. The characteristic ability of bacterial OMVs to contain enzymes showing antimicrobial activity has also been reported in *Lysobacter* spp., *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Burkholderia thailandensis* (Kadurugamuwa & Beveridge, 1996, Vasilyeva *et al.*, 2008, Meers *et al.*, 2018, Wang *et al.*, 2020). Moreover, it was shown that *Pbr*1692 OMVs inhibit the growth of *D. dadantii*, suggesting that *Pbr*1692 OMVs play an essential role in competition and may have antimicrobial activity; however, not against all SREs or *P. parasitica* INRA 310.

Although results from **Fig 3.3** did not show competition between *Pbr*1692 cells and *P. parasitica* INRA 310, we continued to test whether *Pbr*1692 OMVs would show non-inhibitory effects on three *P. parasitica* isolates. The antimicrobial test showed that three *P. parasitica* isolates did not show mycelial inhibition after the treatment with *Pbr*1692 OMVs (**Fig 3.5**); moreover, *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores showed germination after *Pbr*1692 OMVs treatment (**Fig 3.6**). The results suggest that *Pbr*1692 OMVs do not have antimicrobial activity against *P. parasitica* INRA 310.

Interestingly, zoospores showed the ability to assimilate OMVs and remain viable (**Fig 3.7** and **3.8**). Due to the aforementioned results, we generated the question; could there be a different interaction between *Pbr*1692 and *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores? In hindsight, the slowed *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospore motility in **Sup Fig 3.13a** may further support a possible interaction between the two plant pathogens, *Pbr*1692 and *P. parasitica* INRA 310.

*Pbr*1692 OMVs aid *P. parasitica* INRA 310 in carbon utilisation and response to chemical treatment

As a result of the OMV uptake by *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores, we investigated the effect of the *Pbr*1692 OMVs on *P. parasitica* INRA 310 metabolism using PM. The preliminary PM results showed that about 85 carbon sources were utilised by both the zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 OMVs and the untreated zoospores, and seven carbon sources were only utilised by the treated zoospores (**Fig 3.9**, **Table 3.1**). In addition, of the 85 carbon sources, the treated zoospores showed better growth and metabolism in 31 carbon sources compared to the untreated zoospores (**Table 3.2**). Based on the KEGG pathways database, these carbon sources are primarily involved in metabolic pathways that benefit the survival of microorganisms.

Oomycetes, such as *Pythium* spp. obtain their nutrients from the stems and roots of the host, including various carbon sources (Donaldson & Deacon, 1993, Walker & van West, 2007), which supports the utilisation of different carbon sources by *P. parasitica* INRA 310 (**Fig 3.9** and **Table 3.2**). Furthermore, zoospores are attracted to various carbon sources, including amino acids that serve as attractants during chemotaxis (Orpin & Bountiff, 1978). These carbon sources may aid in the invasion of the host. Similarly, *P. cryptogea* and *P. capsici* have utilised a list of carbon sources that the *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores used in this study (Khalil & Alsanius, 2009).

Carbon sources like sucrose contribute to complex pathways such as the Tricarboxylic cycle, and the ability of micro-organisms to adapt to diverse environments (Judelson, 2017). Moreover, the carbon sources D-sorbitol, maltose, L-malic acid, and fumaric acid listed in **Table 3.2** have been predicted to play a role in phosphorylation pathways, which might contribute to the pathogenic fitness (Blanco & Judelson, 2005). However, there is no outstanding distinction between the pathways of the carbon sources showing improved carbon utilisation and growth in the untreated zoospores. Based on the proteomic analysis conducted by Maphosa & Moleleki (2021), *Pbr*1692 OMVs carry enzymes that are predicted for carbohydrate metabolism and may participate in the TCA cycle, such as Ribose-phosphate-phosphorylation-kinase.

Studies have shown that OMVs package enzymes such as hydrolases that can break down polysaccharides for consumption by other bacteria (Elhenawy *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, this suggests that OMVs can package enzymes that can catabolise complex compounds, which may benefit the surrounding microbes. Interestingly, *Pbr*1692 OMVs proteomics showed that OMVs enclose pectate lyase, endoglucanase, and aspartate lyase (Maphosa & Moleleki, 2021) and may play a role in synergistic interactions by degrading complex carbon sources that are beneficial to the microbial communities. However, it is unknown whether the relation of OMV-producing bacteria with other microbes is an exploitative or reciprocal benefit during nutrient utilisation (Caruana & Walper, 2020).

The comparison of the chemical sensitivity of the treated and untreated zoospores showed that OMVs might influence the sensitivity of zoospores to certain chemicals. As a result, it may promote the growth and metabolism of the zoospores in those chemicals or increase the inhibition of the zoospores in the chemicals. There was a decrease in the metabolism and

growth of the treated zoospores and untreated zoospores in 1-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione, sodium selenite, nickel chloride, and thiourea; however, at the early stages of incubation, treated zoospores showed better growth compared to the untreated zoospores in 1-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione and nickel chloride (**Table 3.3**). Meaning that the treated zoospores were less sensitive to 1-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione during the early hours of incubation. The chemical 1-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione, also reported as zinc pyrithione, is an antimicrobial agent (Schwartz, 2016, Kudera *et al.*, 2020). Furthermore, the Biolog software predicted that 1-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione is an antifungal and can inhibit biofilm formation. OMVs are reported to induce antimicrobial resistance by carrying enzymes that may inactivate antimicrobial activity or enclose antibiotics themselves (Allan & Beveridge, 2003, Roszkowiak *et al.*, 2006, Liao *et al.*, 2015, Kim *et al.*, 2018). From these observations, it can be assumed that *Pbr*1692 OMVs might induce antibiotic resistance at the early stages of the incubation.

Some chemicals, nystatin, sodium dichromate, and D-cycloserine, showed an increase in the metabolism of the treated and untreated zoospores. According to Lawrence *et al.* (2017), the inhibitory studies on *P. cinnamomi* and *P. agathidicida* showed that D-cycloserine does not inhibit the germination and motility of zoospores, which may suggest the viability of the zoospore and may further correspond to the increase in growth and metabolism that was observed in **Fig 3.10**. Furthermore, we may assume that the difference in the growth rate of the treated and untreated zoospores could result from the OMVs. D-cycloserine is an antibiotic that targets cell wall biosynthesis in bacteria (Kurokawa *et al.*, 2009), and the structure of the cell wall in oomycetes and bacteria varies, hence the lack of inhibitory effect on the *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores.

Interestingly, nystatin showed better growth in the untreated zoospores compared to the treated (**Table 3.3**). Nystatin is an antifungal that has been shown to inhibit some fungi more actively on the vegetative cells compared to the spores, and according to the Biolog software, nystatin increases the membrane permeability of the cells (Lampen *et al.*, 1957). Reports have indicated that nystatin does not inhibit the growth of *P. agathidicida* (Armstrong, 2018), which may suggest that nystatin does not exhibit inhibitory effects against *Phytophthora* spp.; however, in this case, *Pbr*1692 OMVs may have negatively affected the metabolism of the treated zoospores.

Conclusion

To conclude, *Pbr*1692 OMVs have antimicrobial activity since they were able to inhibit the growth of *D. dadantii*. However, the OMVs do not take part in the competition of *Pbr*1692 interaction with *P. atrosepticum* and *P. carotovorum*. Contrary to our hypothesis, there was no competition between Pbr1692 cells and *P. parasitica* isolates, which stated that there might be competition between *Pbr*1692 and *P. parasitica*. Instead, *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores showed the assimilation of *Pbr*1692 OMVs, suggesting a different interaction between the two pathogens. Based on the PM preliminary results, *Pbr*1692 OMVs assist *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores in utilising specific carbon sources. The results also suggest that *Pbr*1692 OMVs could induce antibiotic resistance in zoospores. However, repeating this experiment will give clarity and also verify the observations that have been made. The validation results further substantiate the PM results that *Pbr*1692 OMVs may assist *P. parasitica* INRA 310 with carbon source utilisation.

3.3 Future work

The results presented on the phenotypic microarray were conducted in duplicates for PM1 and or single plate for PM1 may affect the reliability of the results, especially for PM21. Therefore, for our future work, we will repeat the phenotypic microarray in duplicate to verify and validate the preliminary results obtained. Furthermore, we will also conduct synergism assays to investigate the time of interaction between *Pbr*1692 cells and *P. parasitica* INRA 310. Since we have observed that *Pbr*1692 OMVs inhibit *D. dadantii*, we also plan to conduct membrane interaction assays to investigate the OMV action on *D. dadantii* membrane and select possible OMV proteins that may contribute to the observed phenotypes to investigate the mechanisms responsible.

3.4 References

- Allan N & Beveridge T (2003) Gentamicin delivery *Burkholderia cepacia* Group IIIa strains via membrane vesicles from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy **47**: 2962-2965.
- Armstrong C (2018) Chemotaxis and inhibition of the kauri killer *Phytophthora agathidicida*. Master of Science Thesis, University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Ashmawy N, Jadalla N, Shoeib A & Bebany A (2015) Identification and genetic characterization of *Pectobacterium* spp. and related *Enterobacteriaceae* causing potato soft rot diseases in Egypt. *Journal of Pure and Applied Microbiology* **9**: 1847-1858.
- Baumann S, Herrmann J, Raju R, Steinmetz H, Mohr K, Hüttel S, Harmrolfs K, Stadler M & Müller R (2014) Cystobactamids: Myxobacterial topoisomerase inhibitors exhibiting potent antibacterial activity. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 53: 14605-14609.
- Berleman J & Auer M (2013) The role of bacterial outer membrane vesicles for intra- and interspecies delivery. *Environmental Microbiology* **15**: 347-354.
- Bernal P, Llamas M & Filloux A (2018) Type VI secretion systems in plant-associated bacteria. *Environmental Microbiology* 20: 1-15.
- Beveridge T (1999) Structures of gram-negative cell walls and their derived membrane vesicles. *Journal of Bacteriology* **181**: 4725-4733.
- Biller S, Schubotz F, Roggensack S, Thompson A, Summons R & Chisholm S (2014) Bacterial vesicles in marine ecosystems. *Science* **343**: 183.
- Bishop D & Work E (1965) An extracellular glycolipid produced by *Escherichia coli* grown under lysine-limiting conditions. *The Biochemical journal* **96**: 567-576.
- Blanco F & Judelson H (2005) A bZIP transcription factor from *Phytophthora* interacts with a protein kinase and is required for zoospore motility and plant infection. *Molecular Microbiology* 56: 638-648.
- Bomberger J, MacEachran D, Coutermarsh B, Ye S, O'Toole G & Stanton B (2009) Longdistance delivery of bacterial virulence factors by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* outer membrane vesicles. *PLOS Pathogens* 5: 4725-4733.
- Braga R, Dourado M & Araújo WL (2016) Microbial interactions: ecology in a molecular perspective. *Brazillian Journal of Microbiology* **475**: 86-98.
- Brameyer S, Plener L, Müller A, Klingl A, Wanner G & Jung K (2018) Outer membrane vesicles facilitate trafficking of the hydrophobic signaling molecule CAI-1 between *Vibrio harveyi* cells. *Journal of Bacteriology* **200**: e00740-00717.

- Brown L, Wolf J, Prados-Rosales R & Casadevall A (2015) Through the wall: extracellular vesicles in Gram-positive bacteria, mycobacteria and fungi. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 13: 630-640.
- Caruana J & Walper S (2020) Bacterial membrane vesicles as mediators of microbe microbe and microbe host community interactions. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **11**.
- Chan K, Shone C & Hesp J (2017) Antibiotics and iron-limiting conditions and their effect on the production and composition of outer membrane vesicles secreted from clinical isolates of extraintestinal pathogenic *E. coli. Proteomics: Clinical Applications* **11**.
- Charkowski A, Blanco C, Condemine G, Expert D, Franza T, Hayes C, Hugouvieux-Cotte-Pattat N, Solanilla E, Low D, Moleleki L, Pirhonen M, Pitman A, Perna N, Reverchon S, Rodríguez Palenzuela P, San Francisco M, Toth I, Tsuyumu S, van der Waals J, van der Wolf J, Van Gijsegem F, Yang C & Yedidia I (2011) The Role of Secretion Systems and Small Molecules in Soft-Rot *Enterobacteriaceae* Pathogenicity. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 50: 425-449.
- Charkowski O (2018) The changing face of bacterial soft-rot diseases. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **56**: 269-288.
- Chen P, Chen R & Chou J (2018) Screening and evaluation of yeast antagonists for biological control of *Botrytis cinerea* on strawberry fruits. *Mycobiology* **46**: 33-46.
- Chutkan H, Macdonald I, Manning A & Kuehn M (2013) Quantitative and qualitative preparations of bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Bacterial cell surfaces*, Vol. 966 (Delcour A, ed.) p.^pp. 259-269. Springer Science New York.
- Clevström G, Möller T, Göransson B, Liljensjöö A & Ljunggren H (1989) Influence of formic acid on fungal flora of barley and on aflatoxin production in *Aspergillus flavus*. *Mycopathologia* **107**: 101-109.
- Czajkowski R, Pérombelon M, van Veen J & van der Wolf J (2011) Control of blackleg and tuber soft rot of potato caused by *Pectobacterium* and *Dickeya* species: a review. *Plant Pathology* **60**: 999-1013.
- Deo P, Chow S, Hay I, Kleifeld O, Costin A, Elgass K, Jiang J, Ramm G, Gabriel K, Dougan G, Lithgow T, Heinz E & Naderer T (2018) Outer membrane vesicles from *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae target PorB to mitochondria and induce apoptosis. *PLOS Pathogens* 14: 33-46.
- Duarte V, De Boer S, Ward L & de Oliveira A (2004) Characterization of atypical *Erwinia carotovora* strains causing blackleg of potato in Brazil. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 96: 535-545.

- Dutta S, Iida K, Takade A, Meno Y, Nair G & Yoshida S (2004) Release of Shiga toxin by membrane vesicles in *Shigella dysenteriae* serotype 1 strains and in vitro effects of antimicrobials on toxin production and release. *Microbiology and immunology* **48**: 965-969.
- Elhenawy W, MO D, MF F, Whiteley M & Greenberg E (2014) Preferential packing of acidic glycosidases and proteases into *Bacteroides* outer membrane vesicles. *mBio* **5**: e00909-00914.
- Ellis T & Kuehn M (2010) Virulence and immunomodulatory roles of bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* **74**: 81-94.
- Evans A, Davey H, Cookson A, Currinn H, Cooke-Fox G, Stanczyk P & Whitworth D (2012) Predatory activity of *Myxococcus xanthus* outer-membrane vesicles and properties of their hydrolase cargo. *Microbiology* **158**: 2742-2752.
- Fukuoka S (1992) Spontaneous release of outer membrane vesicles by *Erwinia carotovora*. *Microbios* 72: 167-173.
- Furuta N, Tsuda K Fau Omori H, Omori H Fau Yoshimori T, Yoshimori T Fau Yoshimura F, Yoshimura F Fau - Amano A & Amano A (2009) *Porphyromonas gingivalis* outer membrane vesicles enter human epithelial cells via an endocytic pathway and are sorted to lysosomal compartments. *Infection and Immunity* **77**: 4187-4196.
- Gallup A, Sullivan M & Shew H (2006) Black shank of tobacco. Plant Health Instructor.
- Gankema H, Wensink J, Guinée P, Jansen W & Witholt B (1980) Some characteristics of the outer membrane material released by growing enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. *Infection and Immunity* **29**: 704-713.
- Gill S, Catchpole R & Forterre P (2019) Extracellular membrane vesicles in the three domains of life and beyond. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* **43**: 273-303.
- Grinter R, Milner J & Walker D (2012) Ferredoxin containing bacteriocins suggest a novel mechanism of iron uptake in *Pectobacterium spp. PLOS ONE* **7**: e33033.
- Grisham M, Tabler R & Barnes L (1983) *Phytophthora* rot of potatoes in Texas caused by *Phytophthora parasitica* and *P. cryptogae*. *Plant Disease* **67**: 1258-1261.
- Guerrero-Mandujano A, Hernández-Cortez C, Ibarra J & Castro-Escarpulli G (2017) The outer membrane vesicles: Secretion system type zero. *Traffic* **18**: 425-432.
- Horstman A & Kuehn M (2002) Bacterial surface association of heat-labile enterotoxin through lipopolysaccharide after secretion via the general secretory pathway *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **277**: 32538-32545.

- Jäger J, Keese S, Roessle M, Steinert M & Schromm A (2015) Fusion of *Legionella pneumophila* outer membrane vesicles with eukaryotic membrane systems is a mechanism to deliver pathogen factors to host cell membranes. *Cellular Microbiology* **17**: 607-620.
- Jan A (2017) Outer Membrane Vesicles (OMVs) of gram-negative bacteria: A perspective update. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **9**: 1053.
- Jin J, Kwon S, Moon D, Gurung M, Lee J, Kim S & Lee J (2011) *Acinetobacter baumannii* secretes cytotoxic outer membrane protein a via outer membrane vesicles. *PLOS ONE* **6**: e17027.
- Johnstone T & Nolan E (2015) Beyond iron: non-classical biological functions of bacterial siderophores. *Dalton Transactions* **44**: 6320-6339.
- Joint I, Tait K, Callow M, Callow J, Milton D, Williams P & Cámara M (2002) Cell-to-cell communication across the prokaryote-eukaryote boundary. *Science* **298**: 1207.
- Jonca J, Waleron M, Czaplewska P, Bogucka A, Steć A, Dziomba S, Jasiecki J, Rychłowski M & Waleron K (2021) Membrane vesicles of *Pectobacterium* as an effective protein secretion system. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 22: 12574.
- Judelson H (2017) Metabolic diversity and novelties in the oomycetes. *Annual Review of Microbiology* **71**: 21-39.
- Kadurugamuwa J & Beveridge T (1995) Virulence factors are released from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in association with membrane vesicles during normal growth and exposure to gentamicin: a novel mechanism of enzyme secretion. *Journal of Bacteriology* **177**: 3998– 4008.
- Kadurugamuwa J & Beveridge T (1996) Bacteriolytic effect of membrane vesicles from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* on other bacteria including pathogens: conceptually new antibiotics. *Journal of Bacteriology* **178**: 2767-2774.
- Kadurugamuwa J, Mayer A, Messner P, Sára M, Sleytr U & Beveridge T (1998) S-Layered Aneurinibacillus and Bacillus spp. Are susceptible to the lytic action of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Membrane Vesicles. *Journal of Bacteriology* **180**: 2306-2311.
- Katsir L & Bahar O (2017) Bacterial outer membrane vesicles at the plant–pathogen interface. *PLOS Pathogens* **13**: e1006306.
- Khayi S, Cigna J, Chong T, Quêtu-Laurent A, Chan K, Hélias V & Faure D (2016) Transfer of the potato plant isolates of *Pectobacterium wasabiae* to *Pectobacterium parmentieri* sp. nov. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 16: 5379-5383.
- Kim S, Park S, Im S, Lee J, Jung J, Gong T, Lazarte J, Kim J, Seo J, Kim J, Song J, Jung H, Kim G, Lee Y, Lim S & Jung T (2018) Outer membrane vesicles from β-lactam-resistant

Escherichia coli enable the survival of β -lactam-susceptible *E. coli* in the presence of β -lactam antibiotics. *Scientific Reports* **8**: 5402.

- Klimentová J & Stulík J (2015) Methods of isolation and purification of outer membrane vesicles from gram-negative bacteria. *Microbiological Research* **170**: 1-9.
- Ko S, Rho D, Jeon J, Kim Y, Woo H, Kim N & Kim J (2016) Crude preparations of *Helicobacter pylori* outer membrane vesicles induce upregulation of heme oxygenase-1 via activating Akt-Nrf2 and mTOR-IκB kinase-NF-κB pathways in dendritic cells. *Infection and Immunity* **84**: 2162-2174.
- Kong P & Hong C (2016) Soil bacteria as sources of virulence signal providers promoting plant infection by *Phytophthora* pathogens. *Scientific Reports* **6**: 33239.
- Kudera T, Doskocil I, Salmonova H, Petrtyl M, Skrivanova E & Kokoska L (2020) In vitro selective growth-inhibitory activities of phytochemicals, synthetic phytochemical analogs, and antibiotics against diarrheagenic/probiotic bacteria and cancer/normal intestinal cells. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)* 13: 233.
- Kuehn M & Kesty N (2005) Bacterial outer membrane vesicles and the host-pathogen interaction. *Genes & Development* **19**: 2645-2655.
- Kulp A & Kuehn M (2010) Biological functions and biogenesis of secreted bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Annual review of microbiology* **64**: 163-184.
- Kurokawa K, Hamamoto H, Matsuo M, Nishida S, Yamane N, Lee Bok L, Murakami K, Maki H & Sekimizu K (2009) Evaluation of target specificity of antibacterial agents Using *Staphylococcus aureus* ddlA mutants and d-cycloserine in a silkworm infection model. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 53: 4025-4027.
- Kwon S, Gho Y, Lee J & Kim S (2009) Proteome analysis of outer membrane vesicles from a clinical *Acinetobacter baumannii isolate*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **297**: 150-156.
- Lai C, Listgarten M & Hammond B (1981) Comparative ultrastructure of leukotoxic and nonleukotoxic strains of Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans. Journal of Periodontal Research 16: 379-389.
- Lampen J, Morgan Elliott R & Slocum A (1957) Effect of nystatin on the utilization of substrates by yeast and other fungi. *Journal of Bacteriology* **74**: 297-302.
- Larousse M & Galiana E (2017) Microbial partnerships of pathogenic oomycetes. *PLOS Pathogens* **13**: e1006028.
- Lastauskienė E, Zinkevičienė A, Girkontaitė I, Kaunietis A & Kvedarienė V (2014) Formic acid and acetic acid induce a programmed cell death in pathogenic Candida Species. *Current Microbiology* 69: 303-310.

- Lawrence S, Armstrong C, Patrick W & Gerth M (2017) High-throughput chemical screening identifies compounds that Inhibit different stages of the *Phytophthora agathidicida* and *Phytophthora cinnamomi* life cycles. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **8**: 1340.
- Lee J, Kim O & Gho Y (2016) Proteomic profiling of gram-negative bacterial outer membrane vesicles: current perspectives. *Proteomics Clinical applications* **10**: 897-909.
- Lekmeechai S, Su Y, Brant M, Alvarado-Kristensson M, Vallström A, Obi I, Arnqvist A & Riesbeck K (2018) *Helicobacter pylori* outer membrane vesicles protect the pathogen from reactive oxygen species of the respiratory burst. *Frontiers in microbiology* **9**: 1837-1837.
- Li Z, Clarke A & Beveridge T (1998) Gram-negative bacteria produce membrane vesicles which are capable of killing other bacteria. *Journal of Bacteriology* **180**: 5478-5843.
- Liao Y, Kuo S, Chiang M, Lee Y, Sung W, Chen Y, Chen T & Fung C (2015) Acinetobacter baumannii extracellular OXA-58 is primarily and selectively released via Outer Membrane Vesicles after Sec-dependent periplasmic translocation. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 59: 7346-7358.
- Lindmark B, Rompikuntal P, Vaitkevicius K, Song T, Mizunoe Y, Uhlin B, Guerry P & Wai S (2009) Outer membrane vesicle-mediated release of cytolethal distending toxin (CDT) from *Campylobacter jejuni*. *BMC Microbiology* **9**: 220.
- Ma L, Hachani A, Lin J, Filloux A & Lai E (2014) *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* deploys a superfamily of type VI secretion DNase effectors as weapons for interbacterial competition in planta. *Cell host & microbe* **16**: 94-104.
- MacDonald I & Kuehn M (2012) Offense and defense: microbial membrane vesicles play both ways. *Research in Microbiology* **163**: 607-618.
- Macdonald I & Kuehn M (2013) Stress-induced outer membrane vesicle production by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Journal of Bacteriology* **195**.
- Manning A & Kuehn M (2011) Contribution of bacterial outer membrane vesicles to innate bacterial defense. *BMC Microbiology* **11**: 258.
- Maphosa S & Moleleki L (2021) Isolation and characterization of outer membrane vesicles of *Pectobacterium brasiliense 1692. Microorganisms* **9**: 1918.
- Marquez-Villavicencio M, Groves R & Charkowski A (2011) Soft Rot disease severity is affected by potato physiology and *Pectobacterium* taxa. *The American Phytopathological Society* **95**.
- Marquez-Villavicencio M, Groves R & Charkowski A (2011) Soft rot disease severity is affected by potato physiology and *Pectobacterium* taxa. *Plant Disease* **95**: 232-241.

- McBroom A & Kuehn M (2007) Release of outer membrane vesicles by Gram-negative bacteria is a novel envelope stress response. *Molecular Microbiology* **63**: 545-558.
- McBroom A, Johnson A, Vemulapalli S & Kuehn M (2006) Outer membrane vesicle production by *Escherichia coli* Is independent of membrane instability. *Journal of Bacteriology* **188**: 5385-5392.
- McGowan S, Barnard A, Bosgelmez G, Sebaihia M, Simpson N, Thomson N, Welch M, NA W & Salmond G (2005) Carbapenem antibiotic biosynthesis in *Erwinia carotovora* is regulated by physiological and genetic factors modulating the quorum sensing-dependent control pathway. *Molecular Microbiology* 55: 526–545.
- Meers P, Liu C, Chen R, Bartos W, Davis J, Dziedzic N, Orciuolo J, Kutyla S, Pozo M, Mithrananda D, Panzera D & Wang S (2018) Vesicular delivery of the antifungal antibiotics of Lysobacter enzymogenes C3. American Society of Microbiology 84: e01353-01318.
- Meletis G (2016) Carbapenem resistance: overview of the problem and future perspectives. *Therapeutic advances in infectious disease* **3**: 15-21.
- Meng Y, Zhang Q, Ding W & Shan W (2014) *Phytophthora parasitica*: a model oomycete plant pathogen. *Mycology* **5**: 43-51.
- Merwe J, Coutinho T, Korsten L & Waals J (2010) Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. brasiliensis causing blackleg on potatoes in South Africa. European Journal of Plant Pathology 126: 175-185.
- Monson R, Jones K & Salmond G (2018) Draft genome sequence of *Pectobacterium* carotovorum subsp. carotovorum ATCC 39048, a carbapenem-producing phytopathogen. *Microbiology Resource Announcements* 7: e00825-00818.
- Motyka-Pomagruk A, Zoledowska S, Sledz W & Lojkowska E (2021) The occurrence of bacteria from different species of *Pectobacteriaceae* on seed potato plantations in Poland. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 159: 309-325.
- Nagakubo T, Nomura N & Toyofuku M (2020) Cracking open bacterial membrane vesicles. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **10**.
- Panda P, Fiers M, Lu A, Armstrong K & Pitman A (2015) Draft genome sequences of three *Pectobacterium* strains causing blackleg of potato: *P. carotovorum subsp. brasiliensis* ICMP 19477, *P. atrosepticum* ICMP 1526, and P. carotovorum subsp. carotovorum UGC32. *Genomic Announcement* 3: e00874-00815.
- Papp-Wallace K, Endimiani A, Taracila M & Bonomo R (2011) Carbapenems: past, present, and future. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **55**: 4943-4960.

- Parker H, Chitcholtan K Fau Hampton M, Hampton Mb Fau Keenan J & Keenan J (2010) Uptake of *Helicobacter pylori* outer membrane vesicles by gastric epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity* 25: 5054-5061.
- Peleg A, Hogan D & Mylonakis E (2010) Medically important bacterial–fungal interactions. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **8**: 340-349.
- Pérez-Cruz C, Cañas M, Giménez R, Badia J, Mercade E, Baldomà L & Aguilera L (2016) Membrane vesicles released by a hypervesiculating *Escherichia coli Nissle 1917* tolR mutant are highly heterogeneous and show reduced capacity for epithelial cell interaction and entry. *PLOS ONE* **11**: e0169186.
- Pérombelon M (2002) Potato diseases caused by soft rot *erwinias*: an overview of pathogenesis. *Plant Pathology* **51**: 1-12.
- Piotrowska M, Ciura K, Zalewska M, Dawid M, Correia B, Sawicka P, Lewczuk B, Kasprzyk J, Sola L, Piekoszewski W, Wielgomas B, Waleron K & Dziomba S (2020) Capillary zone electrophoresis of bacterial extracellular vesicles: A proof of concept. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1621: 461047.
- Prados-Rosales R, Weinrick Bc Fau Piqué D, Piqué Dg Fau Jacobs W, Jacobs Wr Jr Fau -Casadevall A, Casadevall A Fau - Rodriguez G & Rodriguez GM (2014) Role for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* membrane vesicles in iron acquisition. *Journal of Bacteriology* **196**: 1250–1256.
- Regente M, Pinedo M, San Clemente H, Balliau T, Jamet E & de la Canal L (2017) Plant extracellular vesicles are incorporated by a fungal pathogen and inhibit its growth. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **68**: 5485-5496.
- Renelli M, Matias V, Lo R & Beveridge T (2004) DNA-containing membrane vesicles of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 and their genetic transformation potential. *Microbiology* 150: 2161-2169.
- Roh E, Park T, Kim M, Lee S, Ryu S, Oh C, Rhee S, Kim D, Park B & Heu S (2010) Characterization of a new bacteriocin, Carocin D, from *Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. carotovorum Pcc21*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **76**: 7541-7549.
- Rompikuntal P, Thay B, Khan M, Alanko J, Penttinen A, Asikainen S, Wai S & Oscarsson J (2012) Perinuclear localization of internalized outer membrane vesicles carrying active cytolethal distending toxin from *Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans*. *Infection and immunity* **80**: 31-42.
- Rosenzweig N, Steere L, Hammerschmidt R & Kirk W (2016) Tuber soft rot, blackleg and aerial stem rot. p.^pp. 1-4. Michigan State University Extension, Michigan.

- Roszkowiak J, Jajor P, Guła G, Gubernator J, Żak A, Drulis-Kawa Z & Augustyniak D (2006) Interspecies outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) modulate the sensitivity of pathogenic bacteria and pathogenic yeasts to cationic peptides and serum complement *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 20: 5577.
- Sabra W, Lünsdorf H & Zeng A (2003) Alterations in the formation of lipopolysaccharide and membrane vesicles on the surface of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 under oxygen stress conditions. *Microbiology* 149: 2789-2795.
- Samson R, Legendre J, Christen R, Saux MF, Achouak W & Gardan L (2005) Transfer of *Pectobacterium chrysanthemi* (Burkholder et al. 1953) Brenner *et al.* 1973 and *Brenneria paradisiaca* to the genus *Dickeya* gen. nov. as *Dickeya chrysanthemi* comb. nov. and *Dickeya paradisiaca* comb. nov. and delineation of four novel species, *Dickeya dadantii* sp. nov., *Dickeya dianthicola* sp. nov., *Dickeya dieffenbachiae* sp. nov. and *Dickeya zeae* sp. nov. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 55: 1415-1427.
- Schaar V, Nordström T, Mörgelin M & Riesbeck K (2011) Outer membrane vesicles carry βlactamase and promote survival of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*; *Haemophilus influenzae* by inactivating Amoxicillin. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **55**: 3845-3853.
- Schink B (2002) Synergistic interactions in the microbial world. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* **81**: 257-261.
- Schulz E, Goes A, Garcia R, Panter F, Koch M, Müller R, Fuhrmann K & Fuhrmann G (2018)
 Biocompatible bacteria-derived vesicles show inherent antimicrobial activity. *Journal of Controlled Release* 290: 46-65.
- Schwartz J (2016) Zinc pyrithione: A topical antimicrobial With complex pharmaceutics. *Journal of Drugs in Dermatology* **15**: 140-144.
- Schwechheimer C & Kuehn M (2015) Outer-membrane vesicles from Gram-negative bacteria: biogenesis and functions. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **13**: 605-619.
- Shyntum D, Nkomo N, Shingange N, Gricia A, Bellieny-RD & Moleleki L (2019) The impact of type VI secretion system, bacteriocins and antibiotics on bacterial competition of *Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. brasiliense* and the regulation of carbapenem biosynthesis by iron and the ferric-uptake regulator. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **10**: 2379.
- Tashiro Y, Yawata Y, Toyofuku M, Uchiyama H & Nomura N (2013) Interspecies interaction between *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and other microorganisms. *Microbes and Environments* 28: 13-24.
- Taylor R, Pasche J & Gudmestad N (2014) Etiology of a tuber rot and foliar blight of potato caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae*. *Plant Disease* **99**: 474-481.

- Taylor R, Pasche J, Gallup C, Shew H & Gudmestad N (2008) A foliar blight and tuber rot of potato caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae*: new occurrences and characterization of isolates. *Plant Disease* **92**: 492-503.
- Taylor R, Pasche J, Shew H, Lannon K & Gudmestad N (2012) Tuber rot of potato caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae*: Isolate aggressiveness and cultivar susceptibility. *Plant Disease* 96: 693-704.
- Toth I, van der Wolf J, Saddler G, Lojkowska E, Hélias V, Pirhonen M, Tsror L & Elphinstone J (2011) Dickeya species: an emerging problem for potato production in Europe. *Plant Pathology* **60**: 385-399.
- Toyofuku M, Nakajima-Kambe T Fau U H, Uchiyama H Fau Nomura N & Nomura N (2009) The effect of a cell-to-cell communication molecule, *Pseudomonas* quinolone signal (PQS), produced by *P. aeruginosa* on other bacterial species. *Microbes and Environments* 25: 1-7.
- Tshikantwa T, Ullah M, He F & Yang G (2018) Current trends and potential applications of microbial interactions for human welfare. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **9**: 1156.
- van der Merwe J, Coutinho T, Korsten L & van der Waals J (2010) *Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. brasiliensis* causing blackleg on potatoes in South Africa. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **126**: 175-185.
- van Dijk K & Nelson E (2000) Fatty acid competition as a mechanism by which *Enterobacter cloacae* suppresses *Pythium ultimum* sporangium germination and damping-off. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **66**: 5340-5347.
- Vasilyeva N, Tsfasman I, Suzina N, Stepnaya O & Kulaev I (2008) Secretion of bacteriolytic endopeptidase L5 of *Lysobacter sp.* XL1 into the medium by means of outer membrane vesicles. *The FEBS Journal* 275: 3827-3835.
- Wang Y, Hoffmann J, Chou CW, Höner Zu Bentrup K, Fuselier J, Bitoun J, Wimley W & Morici L (2020) *Burkholderia thailandensis* outer membrane vesicles exert antimicrobial activity against drug-resistant and competitor microbial species. *Journal of Microbiology* 58: 550-567.
- West S, Diggle S, Buckling A, Gardner A & Griffin A (2007) The Social Lives of Microbes. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics **38**: 53-77.
- Whitchurch CB, Tolker-Nielsen T, Ragas P & Mattick J (2002) Extracellular DNA required for bacterial biofilm formation. *Science* **295**: 1487.

- Yang J, Hwang I, Lee E, Shin S, Lee E, J, Rhee J & Yu J (2020) Bacterial outer membrane vesicle-mediated cytosolic delivery of flagellin triggers host NLRC4 canonical inflammasome signaling. *Frontiers in Immunology* **11**: 581165.
- Yaron S, Kolling G, Simon L & Matthews K (2000) Vesicle-mediated transfer of virulence genes from *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to other enteric bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66: 4414-4420.
- Yonezawa H, Osaki T, Kurata S, Fukuda M, Kawakami H, Ochiai K, Hanawa T & Kamiya S (2009) Outer Membrane Vesicles of *Helicobacter pylori* TK1402 are Involved in biofilm formation. *BMC Microbiology* **9**: 197.
- Yue H, Jiang J, Taylor A, Leite A, Dodds E & Du L (2021) Outer membrane vesicle-mediated codelivery of the antifungal HSAF metabolites and lytic polysaccharide monooxygenase in the predatory *Lysobacter enzymogenes*. *ACS Chemical Biology* **16**: 1079-1089.
- Zhou L, Srisatjaluk R, Justus D & Doyle R (1998) On the origin of membrane vesicles in gramnegative bacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **163**: 223-228.
- Zingl F, Thapa H, Scharf M, Kohl P, Müller A & Schild S (2021) Outer membrane vesicles of *Vibrio cholerae* protect and deliver active cholera toxin to host cells via porin-dependent uptake. *mBio* 12: e0053421.

3.5 Supplementary data

a

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Ha3hkbypRqUbR_N36ZvcEHwKTj_1p-JJ/view?usp=sharing *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospore with *Pbr*1692 cells first hour incubation

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1HM7hJ2wELc8N1RlHhOAa2vh4QDAdRyrq/view?usp=sh aring *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores with *Pbr*1692 cells third hour incubation

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1HM2Fvnz3snO07bt0rDSbMclDTkJo_Kep/view?usp=sharin g *P. parasitica* zoospores with ddH₂O third hour incubation

b

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1cNU_T1ZL-BehBuvPnfuVruC8gR9yL_ab/view?usp=sharing Pbr1692 OMVs and P. parasitica zoospores at first hour of incubation

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1cNCkdDhTjkL9s89dbBMD216P3dHocScp/view?usp=sharing Pbr1692 OMVs and P. parasitica INRA 310 zoospore at 2 hours 30 mins of incubation

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1cQsu4llz2bX17BySgrkgpzkmWBUlcl_H/view?usp=sharing PBS buffer and *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospore at 2 hours 30 mins of incubation

Supplementary Figure 3. 13: Motility test links of *P. parasitica* INRA 310 zoospores treated with *Pbr*1692 cells, ddH2O used as the negative control (**a**), and *Pbr*1692 OMVs with PBS buffer used as a negative control (**b**).